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ČD Cargo, a.s. is the leader of railway freight transportation in the Czech Republic 
with an established position on the European freight transportation market. The 
Company’s strategic goal is to keep this leading position as well as further increase 
its market share on foreign markets, especially in Germany, Austria and Poland. ČD 
Cargo, a.s. will continue to expand and adapt its current service portfolio to not only 
retain existing customers but, above all, attract new ones. We see our future in in-
teroperability, intermodality and in a socially responsible and environmentally 
friendly approach to goods transport. These will be the three basic pillars the Com-
pany will rely on in the nearest future. 
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Mission, Vision and Goals
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Company Profile

ČD Cargo, a.s. was set up on 1 December 2007 by means of the deposition of part of 
the business from České dráhy, a.s.  The sole founder and shareholder is the joint 
stock company České dráhy. ČD Cargo, a.s. is a subsidiary of České dráhy, a.s. spe-
cialised in providing of freight transport. 
 
 

Name, Address and Identification of the Company 
Business entity: ČD Cargo, a.s. 
Registered office: Prague 7, Holešovice, Jankovcova 1569/2c, ZIP code 170 00 
Corporate ID: 28196678 
Registered in the Register of Companies held by the Municipal Court in Prague, 
File B, Insert 12844 
 
 

Basic Characteristics of the Company 
ČD Cargo, a.s., provides the railway transport of goods and a comprehensive list of 
related services. The goal of the Company is to improve its leading position and to 
be the driving force in the freight transport market in the Czech Republic and the 
Central European region. 
 
The business activity of ČD Cargo, a.s., can be divided into two principal seg-
ments: 
▪   Transportation 
▪   Additional Services. 
 
Transportation segment is furter structured according to the type of trans-
portation, as follows:  
▪   local, 
▪   export, 
▪   import, 
▪   transit, 
▪   international. 
 

The Company transports almost all types of goods, which can be divided into 
the following groups:  
▪   iron and engineering products, 
▪   construction materials, 
▪   brown coal,  
▪   black coal and coke; 
▪   chemical products and liquid fuels, 
▪   wood and paper products, 
▪   food and agricultural products, 
▪   combined transportation, 
▪   automotive products, 
▪   other. 
 
The Company offers railway transportations and a wide range of complemen-
tary services such as: 
▪   customs services, 
▪   logistics services (loading, unloading, storage), 
▪   security advisor services, 
▪   lease of railway vehicles, 
▪   repairs and maintenance of railway vehicles, 
▪   others. 
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ČD Cargo Group consists of the parent company ČD Cargo, a.s., its subsidiaries and 
other investments. 
 
With the liberalisation of railway freight transport in Europe, gradual removal of bar-
riers to enter foreign markets, and in the effort to provide customers with quality 
services "Across Europe", the importance of ČD Cargo Group is growing. As a result, 
ČD Cargo group provides comprehensive services to customers all over Europe. 

Principal business segments of ČD Cargo Group can be divided into the segments 
Transportation and Additional services related to transportation. 

The Transportation segment is realised through the provision of entire trains transport 
product or the goods being transported on the individual basis that ČD Cargo, a.s. offers 
to its customers as the only carrier in the Czech Republic. In the segment of Additional 
services, the Company offers products, which are directly linked to the transportation 

Key financial  indicators of ČD Cargo Group according to IFRS consolidated financial statements

 Indicator 2019 2018 2017 2016 2015 2014 

Structure of assets and liabilities (CZK million)  

Total assets**    25,016   20,093 18,470 18,172 17,742 17,333 

Fixed assets**   22,190   16,698 15,626 15,280 14,588 14,528 

Equity   9,726    9,126 8,529 7,718 6,727 6,122 

Structure of profit (CZK million)  

Revenues   13,037 13,076 11,923 11,760 12,063 12,352 

Operating profit   988 1,020 1,097 1,372 968 1,568 

Profit before tax  791 878 947 1,153 698 1,273 

Ratio indicators (%)  

Current liquidity (current assets/current liabilities) 50 % 80 % 83 % 83 % 62 % 59 % 

Total indebtedness (liabilities /total assets)** 61 % 55 % 54 % 58 % 62 % 65 % 

Average number of employees   7,115 7,134 7,130 7,065 7,335 7,451 

Performance indicators  

Amount of transports (millions of tons) 65.0 68.4 66.1 65.9 66.4 68.6 

Transport performance (million of tariff tonne-kilometres) 11,516 12,928 11,819 11,365 11,139 11,622

* as a result of IFRS 15 implementation, the revenue from rental are reported newly within the "Revenues" since 2018 
 ** Since 2019, the level of assets and indebtness have been affected by the implementation of IFRS 16
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Additional  

Segmental analysis (CZK million) Transportation services Elimination Total 

Revenues*
2019  11,606   3,591 (2,160) 13,037 

2018 11,779 3,205 (1,908) 13,076 

Services, material and energy consumption**
2019 (5,331) (2,655) 2,275 (5,711) 

2018 (5,672) (2,482) 1,865 (6,289) 

Employee benefits costs
 2019 (4,135) (427) (1) (4,563) 

2018 (4,047) (360) - (4,407) 

Depreciation and amortization**
2019 (1,454) (339) (62) (1,855) 

2018 (1,120) (182) 23 (1,279) 

Operating profit
2019 606 466 (85) 988 

2018 828 435  (242) 1,020 

Profit before taxation
2019 439 448 (96) 791 

2018 717 404 (243) 878 

Profit for the period from continuing operations
2019 347 359 (98) 608 

2018 597 306 (240) 663

segment.  They can be characterized by the activities such as rail siding operations, cus-
toms services, security consultancy, storage, rentals of residual capacity of railway ve-
hicles and locomotives or maintenance and repair of third parties' rail vehicles. 

These activities are provided through both its own capacities and cooperation with 
other companies.  

The potential of subsidiaries mainly focuses on the implementation of foreign ex-
pansion, which is one of the strategic goals of ČD Cargo, a.s. In 2019, the develop-

ment of transport in Poland continued in cooperation with the subsidiary CD Cargo 
Poland, new transports were carried out in Austria, where ČD Cargo, a.s. established 
its branch - Niederlassung Wien. The ČD Cargo Group has already had a license for 
rail transport operation in Slovakia and Germany. 

With a transport volume of 65 million tonnes of goods, ČD Cargo Group ranks among 
the most important railway freight carriers in Europe. ČD Cargo, a.s. is also an im-
portant employer in the Czech Republic. 

03

* as a result of IFRS 15 implementation, the revenue from rental are reported newly within the "Revenues" since 2018 
 ** The year-on-year change is also affected by the implementation of IFRS 16
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TRANSPORTATION SEGMENT 
In 2019, the Transportation Segment generated a profit before tax of CZK 439 mil-
lion. This result was influenced by an unexpected decrease in the volume of transport 
on the domestic transport market in the second half of 2019. The year-on-year lower 
volume of transport in this period was recorded mainly in brown coal, iron (incl. en-
gineering products) and automotive commodities. The decrease in revenues from 
the main activity was partially offset by lower volume of variable costs and savings 
of short-term unnecessary operating costs. On the other hand, depreciation and fi-
nancial expenses increased year-on-year, in connection with higher investments in 
renewal, modernization and maintenance of the fleet of freight wagons and loco-
motives. It resulted with increase in the reliability, flexibility and interoperability of 
railway fright wagons, which is necessary not only for the continuing expansion of 
the ČD Cargo brand to foreign transport markets, but also above all for the long-
term sustainability of the company's vehicle fleet.  
 

The result was also reflected by increase of labor costs. The released capacities of the 
Company in connection with the lower volume of transport were utilised in the 
framework of additional transport services, which contributed to achieving a com-
parable level of profit of the ČD Cargo Group. 
 
ADDITIONAL SERVICES RELATED WITH TRANSPORTATION 
In the segment of additional services, the ČD Cargo Group generated a profit before 
tax of CZK 448 million for 2019, which represents a year-on-year increase of CZK 44 
million. We succeeded in utilising the temporarily remaining capacity of freight wag-
ons on the transport market and the activity of companies with the capital partici-
pation of ČD Cargo, that provide logistic and other accompanying transportation 
services, continued. These services contribute to the stable profitability of this seg-
ment despite higher investment costs, growth in labour costs, increase in the price 
of electricity and some material inputs and services. 



Dispatching more than 
800 trains daily
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January 
▪   20 January – realisation of the first business case in Austria by a new branch ČD 

Cargo Niederlassung Wien (precast concrete products from Skovice to Villach) 
▪   29 January – last three Vectron locomotives has been took over of from Siemens 
 
 

February 
▪   21 February – the conference “Railway Infrastructure in Central and Eastern Europe” 

organized by Ermewa, held in Prague with the participation of ČD Cargo, a.s. 
 
 

March 
▪   12 – 14 March – extraordinary transport of replacement transformer from Mo-

chov to Nučice; 
▪   19 March – delivery of the first locomotive 163.022 equipped with ETCS; 
▪   26 March – conclusion of a contract with ŽOS Zvolen for periodic repairs of loco-

motives 750 series  
 
 

April 
▪   1 April – implementation of coal transport to the Werndorf power plant in coop-

eration with ČD Cargo, a.s. and ČD Cargo Niederlassung Wien; 
▪   11 April – extension of the locomotive fleet of ČD Cargo, a.s. by the hired locomo-

tive TRAXX 187.344, intended for operations in ČD Cargo, a.s. in Austria;   
▪   15 – 17 April – ČD Cargo, a.s. attended the trade fair Transrussia in Moscow. 

Within this event, ČD Cargo Logistics and CD Cargo Poland were introduced and 
a memorandum of cooperation with RŽD Logistics was signed; 

▪   26 – 27 April – ČD Cargo, a.s. attended the event “Future is on the Railway” organ-
ised by ŽESNAD.CZ association 

 

May 
▪   goods transported from ESAB Vamberk to DB Schenker logistics centre in Pardu-

bice-Rosice reached one million ton 
 
 

June 
▪   3 – 14 June – transportation of soldiers and military equipment for military exer-

cises Tobrug Legacy 19 in Poland 
▪   4 – 7 June – participation of ČD Cargo, a.s. at the Transport & Logistics trade fair 

in Munich 
▪   5 June – the first loading of wood using GigaWood superstructures on 90-foot In-

noWaggons took place in Hradec nad Moravicí 
▪   11 – 13 June – participation of ČD Cargo, a.s. in the 20th Czech Raildays trade fair 

in Ostrava 
▪   discontinuation of supply of new tanks of Zacns series 
 
 

July 
▪   11 July – a memorandum of strategic cooperation between ČD Cargo, a.s. and 

Chinese Railways (CRCT responsible for all container shipments from China to Eu-
rope and Russia) was signed 

▪   17 July – new bonds issue 
▪   18 July – the launch of the 363.506 locomotive with an advertising label intended 

to attract new employees 
▪   29 July – acquisition of the first upgraded locomotive 742.711 from CZ LOKO man-

ufacturer  
▪   first deliveries of composite brake blocks to SOKV Ústí nad Labem with preferen-

tial mounting on wagons in the direction of Switzerland and Germany 
▪   launch of deliveries of new Eanos wagons 
 
 

04
Major Events in 2019



August 
▪   7 August – the 200th jubilee of MalaTrain connection set up in cooperation with 

ČD Cargo, a.s. and CD Cargo Poland 
 
 

September 
▪   model loading of wood on GigaWood superstructures in several stations, espe-

cially in Moravia 
▪   26 September – deployment of the ČD Cargo, a.s. 383.009 locomotive on the so-

called Green Train Škoda Auto 
▪   30 September – delivery of the first new 744 locomotive (EffiShunter 1000), 

specifically the 744.110 from CZ LOKO 
 
 

October 
▪   9 October – inauguration of a new hall for repairs of railway wagons in SOKV Ústí 

nad Labem 
 
 

November 
▪   7 November – trial transports of limestone from the Mořina quarry to Prunéřov 

power plants started using RockTainer extensions  
▪   13 – 16 November – participation of ČD Cargo, a.s. and its subsidiary ČD Cargo 

Logistics at the China Chengdu International Supply Chain trade fair and Smart 
Logistics Expo 2019 

 
 

December 
▪   12 December – acceptance of the first new 753.6 locomotive (EffiLiner 1600), 

specifically the 753.615 from CZ LOKO 
▪   20 December – arrival of the first new TRAXX 388.001 locomotive to SOKV Ústí 

nad Labem 
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Ivan Bednárik 
Chairman of the Board of Directors 
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Dear Shareholders and Business Partners, Ladies and Gentlemen, 

another year has passed, therefore I would like to share with you the most important 
moments and events in ČD Cargo, a.s. in 2019. 

Whole last year I consider as the successful one. First of all, the performance in in-
ternational transport increased in cooperation with our foreign subsidiaries. In par-
ticular, I would like to highlight the rapid development of the activities of our new 
branch in Austria. However, our subsidiaries in Slovakia and Poland are not staying 
behind, and we are constantly expanding the territory where we are able to meet 
our customers' requirements. 

The development of international transport would not be possible without contin-
uing massive investments in the modernisation and renewal of the vehicle fleet. To 
the fleet of 12 Vectrons are gradually added other interoperable locomotives Traxx 
MS3. We do not forget about diesel traction designed especially for performance on 
the domestic market. We already have a complete fleet of five 744 EffiShunter ma-
chines, we modernise the 742 series, we have managed to repair the 750 series lo-
comotives, and are gradually taking over the EffiLiner 1600 locomotives, that are 
being built through the complete refurbishment of the 753 series. 

Other major investments heading to the carrier lines of freight wagons. We acquire 
80 Zacns fuel tanks, increasing the number of combined transport vehicles in the In-
nofreight system. We started taking over the Eanos wagons. We have immediate 
operational use for all vehicles we purchase. The major investment represents equip-

ment of selected locomotives with mobile units of the European Train Control Sys-
tem (ETCS) and the assembly of so-called silent brake blocks on freight wagons. We 
can invest this massively thanks to our successful bond program, which we contin-
ued last year by another issue of seven-year bonds with a nominal value of CZK 1 bil-
lion. 

Despite the overall positive assessment of last year, we again faced many challenges. 
Our activity was negatively influenced by higher prices of electricity and diesel and 
by the situation on the labour market. Keeping our employees in key professions is 
a priority for us, but even here we must invest prudently. This is also due to the fact 
that, in the second half of the year in particular, we have experienced signs of an 
emerging recession in some fields, such as metallurgy. However, we managed to 
compensate the declines in such affected sectors with other commodities. 

The situation on the transport market is getting worse and ČD Cargo, a.s. has to be 
prepared by the quality and price of the services offered to compete with other carriers 
for transport volumes. For this reason, we are preparing the launch of our branch in 
Germany and we are looking for other opportunities for example in China or Russia. 
In both countries, we signed significant memoranda of cooperation last year. 

Let me thank everyone who contributed to the fact that last year was also successful 
for ČD Cargo, a.s., whether employees or business partners. Thanks to our results, 
ČD Cargo, a.s. remains a stable and dynamic company that is constantly developing, 
and thus consolidates its position among the most important rail freight carriers in 
Europe. 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
Ivan Bednárik 

Chairman of the Board of Directors of ČD Cargo, a.s. 

05
Statement of the Chairman of the Board of Directors
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ČD Cargo, a.s. is fully owned by České dráhy, a.s. which acts in the role of the General 
Meeting, i.e. the Company’s supreme body. The Company’s statutory body is the Board 
of Directors, which comprises three members; the Company’s oversight body is the 
Supervisory Board, which has six members. Pursuant to Act No. 93/2009 Coll. on Au-
ditors, a three-member Audit Committee was established as at 1 October 2009.  
 
 
 

Board of Directors and Management 
1. Ivan Bednárik 
Chairman of the Board of Directors (member since 1 November 2014, Chairman since 
3 November 2014), age: 44 years 
(re-elected a member of the Board of Directors since 2 November 2019, Chairman since 
4 November 2019) 
 
Ivan Bednárik graduated from grammar school at Zlaté Moravce. Following this, he 
studied at NSW Business College, Sydney, Australia. From 1995, he held management 
positions in several companies engaged in trade and transport, most recently as 
a member of the Board of Directors and Sales Director of Express Group, a.s. In Novem-
ber 2014, he was appointed a member of the Board of Directors in ČD Cargo, a.s. 
He was appointed Chairman at the initial meeting of the Board. In 2017, he graduated 
from the Central European Management Institute (CEMI). Effective from 2 November 
2019, he was re-elected a member of the Board of Directors of ČD Cargo, a.s. and at 
the meeting of Board of Directors on 4 November 2019 was re-elected Chairman of 
the Board of Directors. 

06
Statutory Bodies and Management of the Company

Ivan Bednárik 
Chairman of the Board of Directors
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2. Bohumil Rampula 
Member of the Board of Directors (since 1 November 2014), age: 63 years 
(re-elected a member of the Board of Directors since 2 November 2019) 
Bohumil Rampula graduated from an engineering high school in Brno. From 1978 
to 1992, he worked in ČSD (ČD) in operational positions. Since 1992, he held 
management positions at various companies engaged in trade and transport, 
most recently as the statutory executive and sales director of Rail Cargo Logistics 
Czech s.r.o. Since 1 November 2014, he has been a member of the Board of Di-
rectors of ČD Cargo, a.s. and has concurrently managed the Sales Division. 

3. Zdeněk Škvařil 
Member of the Board of Directors (since 1 November 2014), age: 62 years  
(re-elected a member of the Board of Directors since 2 November 2019) 
Zdeněk Škvařil graduated from the Transport University at Žilina. Throughout his 
whole career he has worked in the railway segment and has held numerous opera-
tional and management positions. He has been employed by ČD Cargo, a.s. as the 
head of the operational unit in Brno since the Company’s formation. Since 1 Novem-
ber 2014, he has been a member of the Board of Directors of ČD Cargo, a.s. and has 
managed the Operations Division. 
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Supervisory Board 
1. Václav Nebeský 
Chairman of the Supervisory Board (member of the Supervisory Board since 26 October 2019, 
Chairman since 30 October 2019), age: 42 years  
Václav Nebeský graduated from the Secondary Technical School of Transport in Prague and 
later he graduated with bachelor’s degree in Transport Management, Marketing and Lo-
gistics at the Jan Perner Transport Faculty of the University of Pardubice. From 1996 to 
2000 he worked for ČD, a.s., as a train dispatcher, then as a technologist at the Regional 
Operational Office (OPŘ) Pardubice and a system specialist in the Department of Strategy 
and Informatics of the General Directorate of ČD. Later he also worked in the Group's sub-
sidiaries, namely ČD Telematika and ČD Informační systémy. In 2009, he held the position 
of Deputy Director at CDT Internacional. Two years later he became a crisis manager at 
ČSAD SVT Praha. He also held managerial positions at RPP International, UniControls, VISE-
FI and XT-Card. From 2015 to 2017 he worked as an external consultant at the Ministry for 
Regional Development. In December 2017 he became political deputy at the Ministry for 
Regional Development of the Czech Republic. He was a member of the ČD Steering Com-
mittee and a member of the Government Council for the Information Society. On Septem-
ber 25, 2019 he was elected CEO and Chairman of the Board of Directors of ČD, as. 
 
2. Lukáš Týfa 
Member of the Supervisory Board (since 4 January 2019), age: 41 years 
Lukáš Týfa graduated from the Trutnov Grammar School and the Czech Technical Uni-
versity in Prague, Faculty of Transportation Sciences. In 2002, he graduated from the 
Czech Technical University with a master's degree in Transport Infrastructure and in 
2006 with a doctoral degree in Transport Systems and Technology. Since 2002 he has 
been working at the same faculty as a university teacher in the field of rail infrastructure 
and operation, where in 2013 he received a doctorate in the field of Transport Systems 
and Technology. From 2015 to 2018 he held the position of Head of the Department of 
Logistics and Management of Transport at Czech Technical University in Prague, Faculty 
of Transportation Sciences. From 2000 to 2003 he worked for GJW Praha, spol. s.r.o., 
and in 2006 he was the Ministerial Council of the Public Transport Department of the 
Ministry of Transport. He was a member of the Supervisory Board of České dráhy, a.s. 
(2018). He is a member of the Inter-Ministerial Steering and Working Team of the Quick 
Connections Program and the Technical-Standardisation Commission No. 141/1 of the 
Czech Standardisation Agency. He is also a member of two expert groups of the Tech-
nology Platform Interoperability of railway Infrastructure. 
 
3. Radek Nekola 
Member of the Supervisory Board (from 1 December 2007 to 30 November 2008 and since 
1 December 2008), age: 55 years 
Since 1 December 2018, re-elected by the Company’s employees for another term  
Radek Nekola graduated from the Technical Vocational School in Prague and the 
Transportation high school in Prague, specialising in operations management. In 

1981, he joined the then Československé státní dráhy, where he worked as a motor 
vehicle mechanic in the railway vehicles depot in Ústí nad Labem. He has worked in 
ČD Cargo, a.s. since 1 December 2007, and he has been granted a long-term leave 
for the position of Chairman of the Corporate committee of the railway workers 
trade union association of ČD Cargo, a.s. Currently, he is the deputy Chairman of the 
Railway Workers Union (OSŽ). 
 
4. Marta Urbancová 
Member of the Supervisory Board (since 1 December 2018, elected by the Company’s 
employees), age: 42 years 
Marta Urbancová graduated from the Railway high school in Šumperk, specialising in 
railway transportation. In 1995, after secondary school leaving examination, she 
started work as a train preparer in Ostrava and then as vehicle dispatcher and railway 
treasurer. Since 1 July 2009 she has been granted a leave for position of secretary of 
Chairman of the Corporate committee of the railway workers trade union association 
of ČD Cargo, a.s. In 2012, she completed her higher education and obtained a bache-
lor’s degree at Silesian University in Opava, specialising in social policy and labour. 
 
    5. Roman Onderka 
Member of the Supervisory Board (since 1 April 2017), age: 54 years 
Roman Onderka graduated from Karel English College (VŠKE) in Brno, Faculty of Eco-
nomics and Business Law and Brno University of Technology, Brno Business School, Fac-
ulty of Business Administration, MBA program. In 1989, he joined the then Czechoslovak 
State Railways. Since 1994 to 2006, he worked in the Odborové sdružení železničářů as 
the regional secretary of transport and shipping for the South Moravian and Vysočina 
Region. Since 2006 to 2014, he was a Mayor of Brno. He worked as a member of the 
Board of Trustees of Brno University of Technology in Brno and was a member and then 
a Chairman of the Supervisory Board of Veletrhy Brno, a.s. Since 2014, he has worked in 
the PR and marketing sphere. He is a Deputy of Brno and, since October 2017, a Member 
of the Parliament of the Czech Republic and Vice-Chairman of the Budget Committee 
of the Chamber of Deputies of the Parliament of the Czech Republic. 
 
6. Pavel Kysilka 
Member of the Supervisory Board (since 26 October 2019), age: 61 years 
Pavel Kysilka graduated from the Faculty of Economics of University of Economics 
in Prague. From 1982 to 1989 he worked there as a lecturer and continued his inter-
nal postgraduate studies. In 1986 - 1990 he worked at the Institute of Economics of 
the Czechoslovak Academy of Sciences. In 1990, he became the Vice-Dean for Sci-
ence at the Faculty of Economics, of University of Economics in Prague. From 
September 1990 to the end of 1991 he worked as an advisor to the Minister for Eco-
nomic Policy and Local Development of the Czech Republic. At the beginning of 
1992, he joined the State Bank of Czechoslovakia, where he managed the headquar-
ters for the Czech Republic. From 1993 to 1999, he was the member of the Czech 
National Bank (CNB) Bank Board, Vice-Governor and Executive Governor of the CNB. 
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From 2000 to 2004, he worked as the chief economist of Česká Spořitelna. In 2004, 
he became the member of the Board of Directors and Deputy Director General of 
Česká spořitelna. From 2011 to 2015, he was the Chairman of the Board of Directors 
and CEO of Česká spořitelna. He is the founder of 6DAcademy, the Chairman of the 
Supervisory Board of the Czech Aviation Centre. Since 2019, he is the Chairman of 
the Supervisory Board of ČD, a.s., and the member of the Supervisory Board of ČD 
Cargo, a.s.  
 
Changes in the Supervisory Board 
On 4 January 2019, České dráhy, a.s., as the sole shareholder of ČD Cargo, a.s., exer-
cising the powers of the General Meeting, decided to recall Jan Kasal from the Super-
visory Board of ČD Cargo, a.s., with effect from 4 January 2019. 

On 4 January 2019, České dráhy, a.s., as the sole shareholder of ČD Cargo, a.s., exer-
cising the powers of the General Meeting, decided to appoint Lukáš Týfa as a member 
of the Supervisory Body of ČD Cargo, a.s. with effect from 4 January 2019. 

On 11 March 2019, České dráhy, a.s., as the sole shareholder of ČD Cargo, a.s., exer-
cising the powers of the General Meeting, decided to recall Jiří Švachula, from the 
position of a member of the Supervisory Body of ČD Cargo, a.s. with effect from 11 
March 2019. 

On 30 April 2019, České dráhy, a.s., as the sole shareholder of ČD Cargo, a.s., exer-
cising the powers of the General Meeting, decided to appoint Michal Vereš as a mem-
ber of the Supervisory Body of ČD Cargo, a.s. with effect from 30 April 2019. 

With effect from 24 July 2019, Miroslav Kupec resigned from the Supervisory Board 
of ČD Cargo, a.s. 

On 25 October 2019, České dráhy, a.s., as the sole shareholder of ČD Cargo, a.s., ex-
ercising the powers of the General Meeting, decided to recall Michal Vereš from the 
position of member of the Supervisory Body of ČD Cargo, a.s. with effect from 25 Oc-
tober 2019. 

On 25 October 2019, České dráhy, a.s., as the sole shareholder of ČD Cargo, a.s., ex-
ercising the powers of the General Meeting, decided to appoint Pavel Kysilka as 
a member of the Supervisory Body of ČD Cargo, a.s. with effect from 26 October 
2019. 

On 25 October 2019, České dráhy, a.s., as the sole shareholder of ČD Cargo, a.s., ex-
ercising the powers of the General Meeting, decided to appoint Václav Nebeský to 
the Supervisory Body of ČD Cargo, a.s. with effect from 26 October 2019. 

On 30 October 2019, Supervisory Board of ČD Cargo, a.s., at its meeting, appointed 
Václav Nebeský as the Chairman of the Supervisory Board of ČD Cargo, a.s. 

Audit Committee 
1. Oldřich Vojíř 
Chairman of the Audit Committee (member since 15 December 2009, Chairman since 18 
February 2010), age: 58 years 
(Since 17 December 2019 re-appointed as a member of the Audit Committee for another term) 
Oldřich Vojíř graduated from the Faculty of Education of Jan Evangelista Purkyně 
University in Ústí nad Labem and graduated from a doctoral study at the Transport 
Faculty of the University of Pardubice. He was a member of the Parliament of the 
Czech Republic and he managed or supervised business, energy and transportation 
companies. At present, he manages Enima pro, a.s., which focuses on engineering 
and work in the construction industry, electro-technology and transportation tech-
nology in Prague, with branches in Ostrava and Most. 
 
2. Libor Joukl 
Member of the Audit Committee (since 15 December 2009), age: 53 years, 
(on 17 December 2019, he was re-appointed for another term) 
Libor Joukl graduated from the Brno University of Technology. In 1989, he joined 
ŽĎAS in Žďár nad Sázavou, dealing with plant equipment construction and design. 
From 1991 to 1992 he worked as an independent agent for the PENTA Žďár nad Sáza-
vou advertising agency. Since 1992, he has been self-employed. Between 1994 and 
2000, he acted as the Production Manager of JMZ-CATONEX s.r.o. In 2000, he be-
came a Statutory Executive and Director of APOLY s.r.o. Přibyslav. Since 2002, he has 
been a member of the Town Council of Přibyslav. He was a member of the Supervi-
sory Board of MERO, a.s., Kralupy nad Vltavou from 2003 to 2006 and its Vice Chair-
man from 2004 to 2006. Since 2004, he has been a member of the Regional Council 
of Vysočina; in November 2008 he became the Deputy Governor of the Vysočina Re-
gion for transportation and property. Currently, he is a member of the Regional Ad-
ministration and Maintenance of Roads Vysočina Regional Council Board. 
 
3. Miroslav Zámečník 
Member of the Audit Committee (since 15 December 2009), age: 57 years, 
(on 17 December 2019, he was re-appointed for another term)  
Miroslav Zámečník graduated from the University of Economics in Prague and was 
a Pew Fellow at the School of Foreign Services, Georgetown University, Washington. 
From 1990 to 1993, he worked as an advisor to the federal Minister of Finance and 
then the head of the Centre for Economic Analysis of the Office of President Václav 
Havel. Between 1994 and 1998, he was a representative of the Czech Republic at 
the World Bank in Washington, D.C. Since 2001, he has worked as an independent 
economic consultant specialising in the restructuring of companies. He was a mem-
ber of the National Economic Council of the Czech Government.
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Compared to 2018, results in brown coal commodity were worse throughout the 
year. Globally, they reflected both the situation in the energy and heating sectors (in-
crease in prices of emission allowances). Overfilling of landfills in power plants and 
heating plants, especially in Chvaletice, was also unfavourable. Both, autumn and 
December were relatively warm months, i.e. the heating plants did not need as much 
fuel for their operation. Some energy sources switched to gas combustion, which 
also had a negative impact on the performance of ČD Cargo, a.s. The hard coal and 
coke commodity is one of those where the volume of transport increased year-on-
year. This was largely due to cooperation with the CD Cargo Poland subsidiary and 
the ČD Cargo-Niederlassung Wien branch. In the case of the first mentioned, a large 
share of black coal shipments from Baltic ports and Polish shafts to domestic 
smelters was acquired. The Vienna branch carried out the fuel transport to the power 
plant in Werndorf. However, these activities were definitively stopped at the end of 
the year. Transit transport of coke also performed with slight fluctuations. However, 
there was also a decline in metallurgical production and the related demand for coke. 
The key to the good results in this commodity was to ensure enough wagons for the 
Polish market. 

In transportation in the chemical products and liquid fuels commodity was provided 
with large fluctuations. The most important for ČD Cargo, a.s. was the deployment 
of new tank wagons for diesel transport from Germany for ČEPRO. They maintained 
a stable level throughout the year, respectively they grew. On the other hand, we 
lost part of the fuel transport in favour of other carriers. In general, also transports 
of chemical products and fertilizers decreased. 

Development in the wood and paper products commodity was quite volatile in 2019. 
There was a significant year-on-year drop in performance by almost 1 million tonnes. 
During the year, the bark beetle calamity moved from Jeseníky to other areas, espe-
cially to the Bohemian-Moravian Highlands. As a result of the relocation of mining 
sites near the processing plants, part of the transport was switched to cheaper truck 
transport. More than 10 carriers were involved in the wood transport, which could 
only be countered by special offers. Over the course of the year, the situation was 
complicated by overfilling of border crossing points during transports to Romania. 
Among the positive factors it is necessary to mention for example the deployment 
of GigaWood technology to transports for the company Wood & Paper and the ac-
quisition of new export transports to Poland. 

In the course of the year, in the food and agricultural products commodity, the transit 
transport of grain to German ports in cooperation with the subsidiary ČD Cargo Lo-
gistics, a.s., was significantly increased. The Vectron locomotive is now being de-
ployed in Germany. Other significant transport volumes are realized by the branch 
in Vienna – transit of grain, soy, etc. to Germany. The beet campaign was also suc-
cessfully implemented, and the beet was also imported from Slovakia to Hrušovany 

The Board of Directors of ČD Cargo, a.s., presents this Report on the Company’s Busi-
ness Activities and Company’s Assets. 
 
 

Freight Transportation Operations 
FREIGHT TRANSPORTATION 
In 2019, ČD Cargo, a.s. trains transported total of 64 million tonnes of goods in the 
Czech Republic, which is in comparison with the previous year a decrease of about 2.6 
million tons. The lower volume of transport is fully connected with the overall decrease 
in the performance of Czech railways, which represents a year-on-year decrease of ap-
proximately 3.6%. In 2019, the subsidiary CD Cargo Poland transported 3.1 million 
tons, while approximately 40 % were transportation for the parent company. 

Revenues from own transport reached to CZK 8.773 billion in 2019, which is CZK 361 
million less than in 2018. The highest sales were generated from the commodity of 
hard coal and coke and food and agricultural products; while the biggest decrease 
was recorded in the commodities iron and engineering products, brown coal and 
wood. 

The beginning of the year in the iron and engineering products commodity was in-
fluenced by the persisting unfavourable situation in Ukraine, which had an impact 
on the volume of imported iron ore. From the middle of the year, the emerging re-
cession in metallurgy began to fully manifest itself. Not only transport of iron ore, 
but mainly metallurgical products decreased. In addition to the decline in produc-
tion, the results were also negatively affected by competition from road transport, 
even indirectly – metallurgical products are also transported on semi-trailers. Iron 
scrap shipments also had a downward trend, but in the autumn the offer of special 
prices reduced the decline. An important contract was the transport of pipes for the 
construction of the Antelope gas pipeline. At the end of the year, cooperation with 
ČD Cargo-Niederlassung Wien was of great importance for the commodity, when 
new shipments of metallurgical products and scrap iron were obtained. 

The results in the building materials commodity were significantly affected by the 
loss of desulphurisation limestone transport to the power plants in Chvaletice and 
Melnik. In November, however, transportation of desulphurizing limestone from the 
Mořina Quarries to the North Bohemian power plants was newly acquired using the 
RockTainer system. New were also transports of desulphurizing limestone to the 
Böhlen power plant in Germany and the Turoszów power plant in Poland. In 2019, 
ČD Cargo, a.s. continued to actively participate in the delivery of construction ma-
terials, particularly gravel for lock-outs events, such as the modernization of Brno's 
main railway station or the construction of a new line in Prague-Vršovice. We also 
transported mined soil to the storage in Nové Strašecí. 

08
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nad Jevišovkou. In the spring, the transport of mineral water on a new route from 
Prague to Kecskemét began. 

VIn the other commodity, numbers of military transports were carried out. During 
the year, we hastily carried out the transport of several transformers, as well as so-
called castors, nuclear waste storage containers. 

The year-on-year decline in combined transport volumes was due to several reasons. 
The most important thing was to end the road semi-trailers transport for RailRunner 
from Bratislava to Braunschweig, due to the insolvency of the customer. Expecta-
tions of an increase in transportation from China to Lovosice and other destinations 
in cooperation with ČD Cargo Logistics, a.s. remained unfulfilled. By contrast, the 
MalaTrain product train service had an upward trend. Operation on the new line for 
the customer LKW Walter was launched, in the relation Rostock - Lovosice, but un-
fortunately at the expense of the line from Rostock to Brno. In 2019, problems 
started to appear due to the depleted capacity of the terminals in Mělník, Lovosice 
and Brno. 

During the year, the automotive commodity began to show a decline in car produc-
tion, which, of course, also affected the volumes of transport with ČD Cargo, a.s. 
Contrary to expectations, the car body transports from Mladá Boleslav to Osnabrück 
were terminated significantly earlier due to the timely completion of the new coating 
plant. The year-on-year decline in revenues was also due to the fight with competing 
carriers on some relations. 

OPERATIONAL MANAGEMENT (OPERATIONAL STRUCTURE) 
Operational management at ČDC has three basic components – planning, manage-
ment and executive. The planning component is the Capacity Management Depart-
ment, which forms long-term and medium-term capacity plans in response to the 
requirements of the Trade Department, with which it has been closely cooperating 
continuously since the bid preparation phase. The result is the long-term and 
medium-term operational plan, that is continually updated and refined, and submit-
ted to the management unit for implementation. The management unit is Operating 
Unit Česká Třebová (ČDC dispatching apparatus), which further refines the medium-
term operational plans, in cooperation with the Customer Centre, and responds to 
the current development of customer orders and creates "short-shift plans". The ex-
ecutive component represents the “Operating Units of ČDC”, which reports the Op-
eration Control Česká Třebová. During the 2019, the Capacity Planning Department 
in cooperation with the Operation Control Česká Třebová continuously fulfilled stan-
dard tasks related to the organisation and operational management of freight trains 
of ČD Cargo, a.s. and with organisation of additional wagons for loading. Since 1 
April 2019, due to change in the organisational structure of ČD Cargo, a.s., the prod-
uct planning group was assigned to the Capacity Planning Department, in order to 

create even more precise plan for dispatching management to ensure the realisation 
of transportation more efficiently. An integral part of this activity is the creation of 
an Overview of product transport and planning and implementation of "ad hoc" 
trains transports.  

The result of set-up and implementation of the Shift Plans was complete fulfilment 
of the role of the dispatching apparatus of ČD Cargo, a.s., in the extent stipulated by 
the Organisational Regulations. 

In the operations of ČD Cargo, a.s. 12 dispatch centres for the organisation of run-
ning of trains and 7 wagon dispatcher centres for the organisation of empty wagon 
extensions are involved. Great emphasis continues to be placed on better prepara-
tion of plans for the implementation of transport. 

In 2019, the Capacity Planning Department and Operation Control Česká Třebová 
significantly contributed to the ongoing development of Customer Traffic Manage-
ment projects. Within these projects, the large share in the successful realisation has 
implementation of changes in the transport of trains to Austria, which are realised 
in Austria on behalf of ČD Cargo, a.s. managed by the ČD Cargo Niederlassung Wien 
branch. Furthermore, the organisation of transports to Poland with ČD Cargo Poland 
continues successfully. Based on the positive impacts on the quality of shipments 
managed within the Customer Traffic Management project (in cooperation with the 
ČDC Customer Centre), other shipments in the brown coal and wood commodities 
are included in this regime. 

Further refinement of the creation of operational plans (implementation technolo-
gies) will be emphasised in the future in the framework of other internal projects and 
process changes in ČD Cargo, a.s. The goal is to increase capacity utilisation and to 
achieve higher quality of transports according to customer requirements. 

Therefore, employees of operational management department are continuously in-
volved in the role of consultants and methodologists, in the development and pilot 
verification of modifications of the information system to support the planning and 
management of operations. In this area, work on the development of IS TMS (order 
management) and E-PROV (short-term plan) continued. 

In the second half of 2019, there was a decrease in transports, therefore it was nec-
essary to continuously implement optimisation steps in the field of operations in 
order to reduce the operating costs. However, these measures are always consulted 
with the Trade Department, in order to avoid any disruption of shipments and to 
avoid harm to the customer, as focus on the target customer with the aim to satisfy 
customer demands on timeliness and information of the movement of his consign-
ments is a must. 
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OPERATIONAL SAFETY 
Implementation of the system for ensuring the safety of rail operation and railway 
transport operation is one of the basic duties of the railway operator and railway 
transport operator (hereinafter referred to as the “carrier”), which is stipulated by 
valid legislation. It is an essential element for obtaining the Safety Certificate, for 
which ČD Cargo, a.s. achieves. 

At the date of commencement of rail transport on the national or on the regional 
rail, the carrier must have a carrier certificate, which covers the national and regional 
railways or their part. The carrier's certificate proves that the carrier has an internal 
organisational structure and management system for ensuring rail transport and 
has established a system of ensuring the safety of rail transport operation, which 
means a set of organisational and technological measures implemented for safe op-
eration of rail transport. 

The Decree No. 376/2006 Coll. (“Decree on the management system for rail opera-
tion safety and rail transport safety and on procedures in the event of incidents on 
railways, as amended), specifies the individual elements and, above all, the require-
ments for the safety management system. It is a whole range of activities related to 
ensuring the operation of rail transport. These include, for example, establishing 
safety policies and communicating them to all employees, risk assessment proce-
dures and methods, implementation of risk control measures in the event that 
changes in operating conditions or materials pose new risks to the railway infras-
tructure or the operation of railway transport, staff training programs and systems, 
which ensure the maintenance of staff qualifications and an adequate level of per-
formance of tasks, as well as determining provisions on the implementation of peri-
odic internal controls of the safety management system. 

One of the most important elements of the system is also the determination of pro-
cedures upon which serious accidents, accidents, incidents and other events affect-
ing the safe operation of rail and railway transport are reported, their causes are 
investigated, analysed and necessary preventive measures taken. 

In 2019, ČD Cargo, a.s. ensured the fulfilment of statutory obligations in the area of 
investigation of extraordinary events by means of the “Agreement on cooperation in 
cases of extraordinary events in railway transport and in cases of fatal and serious ac-
cidents at work” (hereinafter the Agreement). Investigation of the causes and circum-
stances of the origin of extraordinary events in railway transport for ČD Cargo, a.s. 
was carried out by Správa železnic, státní organizace (hereinafter SŽ), by its authorized 
persons based on the Agreement. 

For reporting and investigating extraordinary events, ČD Cargo a.s. applies Measures 
No. 38/2016 of the Operational Director of ČD Cargo, a.s. and the internal regula-
tions SŽ D17 "Regulation for reporting and investigating extraordinary events", in-

cluding “Implementing measures for regulations on reporting and investigating ex-
traordinary events” - SŽDC D17 – 1. 

In 2019, ČD Cargo, a.s. recorded a total of 232 extraordinary events, of which 4 seri-
ous accidents, 39 accidents and 189 incidents. 

The total material damage caused by all extraordinary events is estimated at CZK 
87,885,443. Compared to 2018, this is almost double the amount, which was af-
fected by 4 serious accidents. The estimated damage caused by these 4 extraordinary 
events amounted to CZK 55,039,130. The aforementioned amounts are not final and 
will be gradually refined in the course of 2020, according to both the completed ex-
traordinary events investigations according to completed repairs and overall liqui-
dation of extraordinary events consequences. 

As of 28 January 2020, the investigation of 213 extraordinary events was completed. 
Out of these, 116 cases were the ČD Cargo, a.s. responsibility or co-responsibility. 
The employees of ČD Cargo, a.s. were responsible or co-responsible for the 99 ex-
traordinary events.  

The total number of 232 extraordinary events we have recorded included for example 
20 collisions of railway vehicles, 58 derailments, 4 fires, 39 extraordinary events pri-
marily caused by prohibited movement of the railway vehicle past the signal and 37 
extraordinary events caused on the traction vehicle pantograph interface and trac-
tion lines. 
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In 2019, while operating railway transport, our Company was involved in 17 colli-
sions of railway vehicles at the level crossing with a road vehicle or a person moving 
within a level crossing. 

Within activities aimed at increasing safety, ČD Cargo, a.s. as implements various 
measures in order to eliminate the occurrence of extraordinary events. Responsible 
employees analyse the causes and react accordingly by introducing relevant preven-
tive measures. 
 
 

Information on the Company’s Assets 
THE REAL ESTATE OF ČD CARGO, A.S. 
In addition to common basic means of production, i.e. railway vehicles, the ČD 
Cargo, a.s. also owns real estate. Without this, the business activity of the Company 
would be limited, therefore it should be considered as strategically significant. A total 
of 227 buildings and 250 plots of land owned by the Company is registered at the 
Czech Cadastral Office. The year-on-year changes are the result of a process of uni-
fying plots of land or buildings into logical units, demolitions of unneeded and un-
used buildings, and settling ownership relations that had not yet been settled. The 
built-up area has almost 118 thousand square meters. The total land area is 690 
thousand square metres (including built-up areas of individual buildings). Regular 
maintenance of the real estate is carried out by the Repair Centres for the Railway 
Wagons in line with the financial plan. The investment activity is carried out in line 
and in cooperation with the General Directorate of ČD Cargo, a.s. 

Following the change in the licence for the operation of railway transportation, real 
estate tax returns for all land and buildings owned by the Company have been filed 
since 2015. Property tax returns were previously applicable only to immovable assets 
which were not directly related to activities of public interest or were, at least par-
tially, subject to lease agreements. ČD Cargo, a.s., paid property tax to 10 relevant 
tax offices in the amount of CZK 3,806 thousand. 

LEASE OF RAILWAY VEHICLES 
One of the important business activities within additional services is the lease of rail-
way vehicles in the form of long-term and short-term lease. In the form of a long-
term lease, our partners lease vehicles designed for operation territory, outside the 
Czech Republic. Short-term lease is performed for locomotives in individual business 
cases, outside our infrastructure, where mainly interoperable locomotives are used.  

With regard to the lease of freight wagons, we provide our customers with both 
long-term and short-term or repeated leases of vehicles for spot and one-off trans-
actions. For these purposes, wagons released from total unbound capacity are used. 
We offer the lease of most lines of wagons, including tanks. Additionally, we try to 

cooperate in projects for the use of non-operating vehicles. These are various forms 
of ensuring the operation of unused wagons and their subsequent operation. 

Increasingly, we use the spare capacity of rail vehicles in commercial transactions in 
cooperation with other subsidiaries, as part of joint expansion on foreign markets. 

VEHICLES FLEET, MANAGEMENT OF VEHICLES 
As of 31 December 2019, in order to ensure the operation of freight trains, 
ČD Cargo, a.s., held 772 traction vehicles, of which 59 were locomotives subject to 
financial lease agreements. As of 31 December 2019, 663 locomotives were used 
for operations, while the freight wagons fleet consisted of around 20.9 thousand 
own freight wagons of different types. The fleet size was expanded according to 
needs to 3,200 leased wagons, in average. Approx. 18.5 thousand vehicles of the 
total fleet were in operating condition.  

During 2019, 810 wagons and 200 wagons of Eas series were scrapped due to wear 
and tear, obsolescence or poor technical condition. The 100 Falls series and 29 Faccs 
series wagons have been rebuilt and upgraded. Further 147 Faccs and 150 Eas wag-
ons will be upgraded in the same way to further increase vehicle operability. For the 
year 2020, 650 outdated and technically worn-out freight wagons are selected for 
disposal or scrapping. In the course of 2019, 30 unserviceable locomotives were 
scrapped, and 14 machines were purchased for nostalgic reasons by interest groups. 
Suitable spare parts from disposed vehicles were recovered for their use in the repair 
of other vehicles. 

Maintenance and repair of railway vehicles were carried out mainly by own repair 
centres, also by České dráhy a.s., DPOV a.s. Přerov and externally. In 2019, 4,128 ve-
hicles underwent periodic repairs. 

The Repair Centres for the Railway Wagons of ČD Cargo, a.s. participated in the in-
stallation of fuel measurement equipment for locomotives, assembly of stations for 
GSM-R and Occupational Health and Safety (OHS) operations on traction units. 
Within the Eas freight wagons used for the transport of wood, scrap or coal the 
change of combined wooden floors with full metal floors continued. 

At the beginning of 2019, 3 Siemens Vectron interoperable locomotives were deliv-
ered (383 010 to 383 012), what increased the total number of this series to 12 units. 
In 2019, 1 modernized locomotive 742.711 was delivered (modernization of loco-
motive 742 series) and also 4 locomotives for light rail operations of 744 series and 
1 locomotive 753.6 series for service vehicles were purchased. 

In 2018, the adaptation of the freight wagon fleet to the needs of the transport mar-
ket with the aim to increase the operability of wagons in international traffic con-
tinued. Further 175 eight-axle 80-feet Sggrrs wagons, specifically designed for 
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transportation of containers and Innofreight superstructures, were added to fleet 
of ČD Cargo, a.s. The wagons in combination with SteelPallets are used for the trans-
port of cast-iron and slabs, whereas in combination with WoodTainers and MonTain-
ers for the transport of lignite and wood chips for various customers who adapt the 
unloading to the new technology. 

In 2019, it was decided to deploy a group of 20 INNO Sggrrs wagons for container 
transports. At the same time, 20 eight-axle 90-feet Sggmrrs wagons were pur-
chased, fitted with timber pallets so-called GigaWood. Overall, ČD Cargo, a.s. oper-
ates 381 its own and 40 leased wagons in INNO technology. 

In addition, 145 new Eanos high-sided wagons and 80 new Zacns tank wagons were 
purchased (50 of Zacns wagons were transferred to ČD Cargo's assets in December 
2019 due to lease term completion). In 2020, the purchase of 295 new Eanos wagons 
andanother 20 Zacns wagons under the exercised option is contracted. The planned 
and tendered delivery of 100 container wagons of the Sgnss series was not realized 
in 2019 due to the poor quality of delivered wagons. 

In order to comply with European legislation in the area of the use of so-called “silent 
wagons”, ČD Cargo, a.s. stared to retrofit the wagons with LL-brake blocks. The obli-
gation to use silent wagons for transport comes into force in Germany on 13 Decem-
ber 2020, and the ban on the use of noisy wagons in Switzerland is effective since 
1 January 2020. By the end of 2019, the Company had already 1,679 wagons 
retrofitted and by the end of 2020, approx. 6 thousand wagons of different series will 
be upgraded. 

In the area of freight wagons management, in 2019 and in the following years great 
attention will be paid to the planning and utilization of vehicle capacity. The aim of 
this effort is to minimize inefficiencies in transport and vehicle management.  

The Company's reporting includes regular evaluation of vehicle capacity utilization, 
including identification of key issues by individual business groups of freight wagons. 
Any excess vehicle capacity is used as part of additional services for lease purposes, 
so that the management of the available fleet of vehicles is as efficient as possible 
and provides additional resources to ensure its operability. 

Cross Functional Activities 
MARKETING AND COMMUNICATION ACTIVITIES 
The Company’s marketing and communication activities are predominantly based 
on our need to support the sale of our own products and services, create a new cor-
porate identity, and increase brand awareness. All of these activities focus primarily 
on existing and potential customers, but communication activities have also signifi-
cantly influenced other business partners as well as the professional and general 
public. 

The most important tools were again the ongoing www.1vagon.cz digital campaign, 
which, in addition to expanding the awareness of the Company's services by dedi-
cated microsite (business section), was also an extensive brand campaign aimed at 
strengthening awareness of the Company and its brand. 

Other means used to fulfil the set goals in the area of marketing and communication 
activities include, for example, web presentation, creation of own printed materials, 
participation in international specialized trade fairs and conferences, realization of 
own events or customer conferences, support of selected cultural and sports pro-
jects, and last but not least, PR presentation in professionally printed and electronic 
media. 

It is also important to mention the importance of internal communication activities 
with the internal magazine for ČD Cargo employees - Cargovák as one of the main 
tools. 

WEB PRESENTATION 
The number of visitors to the ČD Cargo website increased again in 2019. The number 
of 67 news were posted, the information regarding ČD Cargo offer was continuously 
updated, etc. For several years, EROZA (Electronic Customer Interface) has been giv-
ing our customers access to applications. On 1 November, a new version of this cus-
tomer interface was launched. It is divided into several sections, of which 
Applications section belongs to the most popular amngst our customers, where 
portlets for work and use of data from internal systems of ČD Cargo, a.s. can be 
found. 

The www.1vagon.cz platform was used to promote the offer of transport of individ-
ual wagon consignments which pointed out the advantages of this service also for 
small and medium-sized enterprises and enabled the customers to easily calculate 
the cost for transport. 

During the year 2019, the Company profile on Facebook was also used for commu-
nication. Facebook was used not only for the presentation of ČD Cargo, a.s. activi-
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ties, but also for recruitment purposes and promotion of rail freight transport in gen-
eral. “ČD Cargo from spring to winter” photo competition is one of the most inter-
esting projects. Submitted photographs were subsequently used to design wall and 
table calendars of ČD Cargo. 

PRINT AND MEDIA COMMUNICATION WITH CUSTOMERS 
Communication with journalists was carried out via Press Department of České 
dráhy. All important topics, such as the investment activities of ČD Cargo, a.s., bond 
program, development of activities in Austria and successfully managed business 
cases were communicated. 

Print communication focused on advertising ČD Cargo, a.s. services in professional 
magazines. Targeted advertising and PR articles have been published in Dopravní 
noviny, Železniční magazin and Railvolution. We presented our special services port-
folio (transports for energy industry using the Innofreight system, transports for 
lockouts) in specialised journals such as Silnice-Železnice or All for Power. Through 
Železničář, the group’s newspaper, ČD Cargo addressed a wide range of people inter-
ested in rail transport. 

In 2019, we addressed our customers at the trade fairs with the “ČD Cargo Profile” 
and also with the specialized material “Opening Gates to the East”. On the occasion 
of a business conference in Harrachov, a special issue of the ČD Cargo Bulletin pre-
senting the range of services and important contact details was published. 

As in previous years, the basis of the internal print communication was the Cargovák 
magazine enriched by two special attachments. 

TRADE FAIRS AND CONFERENCES 
Trade fair presentations are an important element of active trade policy support as 
it meets one of the main strategic goals - expansion to foreign transport markets. In 
recent years, the trade fair display of ČD Cargo has been present at most of the sig-
nificant international transport and logistics fairs. 

In 2019, trade fair presentations were carried out in the spirit of the "Across Europe" 
slogan. The most important one was undoubtedly the participation in a prestigious 
and the largest European transport fair -  Transport Logistic, which took place at the 
beginning of June in Munich. In the traditionally attractive design exposition, we in-
troduced ourselves as well as our subsidiaries operating on foreign markets, namely 
CD Cargo Germany and CD Cargo Poland, together with ČD Cargo Logistics. In mid-
April, after a three-year break, we returned to Moscow at another major interna-
tional trade fair - TransRussia. At the joint Czech-Slovak exposition we presented 
ourselves together with our subsidiaries CD Cargo Poland and ČD Cargo Logistics. 

Domestic trade fair presentations were clearly dominated by the traditional partic-
ipation in the international fair of railway technology, products and services for rail 
and urban rail transport, Czech Raildays Ostrava. In addition to the spacious outdoor 
exhibition, the "Across Europe" themed Habbilnns wagon presentation was one of 
the main attractions. Beside the presentation of all foreign subsidiaries of ČD Cargo, 
the interior of the wagon also provided many opportunities for amusement, espe-
cially for the smallest visitors to the fair. 

Participation and partnership in the Railway Day 2019 which took place at the end 
of September at the railway museum in Lužná u Rakovníka can also be classified as 
domestic trade fair presentation. 

The year can be considered equally rich in terms of conferences. The pivotal point 
was again the business conference of ČD Cargo, a.s., always held at the beginning 
of the new business year. Its main theme is trade and pricing policy for the upcoming 
period. 

Among other significant participations and partnerships in professional conference 
events, the Railway Conference in Pardubice, subtitled as „Czech and European Rail-
way for The 21st Century – Single Market“ should be mentioned as well as active par-
ticipation in the 3rd conference of The Association of Railway Freight Carriers of the 
Czech Republic, ŽESNAD. CZ, which took place at the end of May in Špindlerův Mlýn. 

RESEARCH, DEVELOPMENT AND COOPERATION WITH UNIVERSITIES 
During 2019, the Company continued its cooperation with certain Czech universi-
ties, in particular technical and economic universities, i.e. with the Jan Perner Trans-
port Faculty at University of Pardubice, the Faculty of Transportation Science at the 
Czech Technical University in Prague, the VSB - Technical University of Ostrava and 
abroad mainly with the University of Žilina - Faculty of Operation and Economics of 
Transport and Communications in Slovakia. Students of these universities are of-
fered with topics for bachelor and master theses in which they can link theory with 
practice. Topics of these theses are designed so that the results can be used or applied 
in practice. At the same time, we allow these students to get to know freight carrier's 
environment as part of their professional internship at the Company. 

ČD Cargo considers the cooperation with universities as highly important and ben-
eficial for both parties. The Company can use the results or findings from diploma 
theses to improve the quality of its activities while the universities, or students, can 
verify their theoretical knowledge by expanding on given topics from the freight car-
rier's environment. At the same time, ČD Cargo, a.s. attempts to cooperate with stu-
dents during their studies, offering temporary work or professional work 
opportunities to interested persons with a higher level of knowledge of railway 
transport. 



INFORMATION SYSTEMS 
The principal architecture of the information systems target arrangement of the ČD 
Cargo, a.s. is based on the information image of the Company’s organisational struc-
ture and is structured into three main areas as follows: 
▪   Operational and business activities covered by the PROBIS information system, 
▪   Economic management of the Company covered by the SAP information system, 
▪   Information and communication technology (ICT) for core business support and 

ICT safety. 

During 2019, the planning and operating systems were gradually modified so that 
they could be used for planning and managing trains not only in the Czech Republic. 
In 2020, development will continue towards handover/takeover of wagons abroad 
and selling/delivering consignments. 

IT support was also launched to manage and monitor key transports of block trains. 
This allows to plan and manage the business case as a whole, starting from the 
movement of the empty wagon, loading wagon up, to transporting the wagon to 
the target customer. In the area of planning, it is the short-term planning of individ-
ual operations, including the possibility of planning local technologies at the border 
station. Part of the planning newly includes IT support to create the freight wagons 
schedule plans for selected business cases. 

In addition, the development of a mobile application for operational employees (the 
so-called mobile PRIS) has also begun, which will enable the replacement of existing 
PDAs with new tablets in mid-2020. 

Long-term projects have been launched: 
▪   ZEVO-O upgrade – IT support for fleet manager's work, which includes freight 

wagons as well as traction vehicles. The solution will also include support for ca-
pacity planning. 

▪   Dynamic Train Formation Planning – the change of the train formation planning 
process in order to create and modify a short-term train formation plan. The aim 
is to create train-forming information for a particular day in information systems, 
including the incorporation lockouts in the plans. Subsequently, this information 
should be transmitted to the information systems as a basis - substitution of lock-
outs, data for PRIS and DISCM or train-forming connection. 

▪   Station operation management – this is the modification and development of in-
formation system in the area of planning and management of station operations, 
focusing on areas that are currently not covered at all or only partially by infor-
mation system support, i.e. short-term planning and management of its imple-
mentation. 
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In 2019, the development of a special application for train drivers continued as part 
of a significant change involving the introduction of tablets as working aids for 
drivers. The project was completed at the end of the year. Following the drivers’ dig-
italisation, the development of the Electronic Time Table (ETD) application began, 
which enables electronic distribution of timetables. The first stage of development 
was fully operational and launched in November 2019. 

In 2019, the UDIV application was extended with a separate “Forecast” module which 
is used to predict the use of ČD Cargo, a.s. wagons of a specified series in the medium 
term (30 days). Users here have comprehensive information about the expected use 
of wagons. It is possible to analyse which commercial vehicle series have a shortage 
of wagons and, conversely, which vehicle series will be unused. 

In the area of customer service, the new EROZA web application was launched, 
which was separated from www.cdcargo.cz. EROZA newly includes extended infor-
mation for customers. In addition to the original applications-  Data and Queries, 
Principles for announcing (ZAN) and ZAN Exceptions, new applications have been 
added, such as contract overview and invoice overview. Ergonomic improvements 
have been made based on the numerous customer's comments on the original solu-
tion. User management is now transferred to the customer's administrator. The 
website www.cdcargo.cz has been transformed into a public website providing basic 
information to customers without the need for registration and access. 

In the field of business information systems, a generational upgrade of the OSCAR 
application (Carga Business System) has been launched. 

As for SAP, the “Implementation of accounting adjustments and other internal pro-
cesses in accordance with IFRS standards” project for direct parallel accounting under 
this standard was completed in 2019. Within this project, the “Implementation of SAP 
Treasury” project was launched. Furthermore, the construction of a fully responsive 
SAP FIORI user environment began which will be used in the first phase of the han-
dover and acceptance of wagons between ČD Cargo, as and external repair centres. 

In the field of Information and Communication Technologies (ICT) in 2019, prepara-
tions for the upgrading of the service infrastructure and the replacement for outdated 
versions of Microsoft products took place with an emphasis on the functionality and 
security of the new The target architecture of the proposed solution was refined, var-
ious licensing models, impacts and links to the existing infrastructure were assessed. 

Several steps have been taken to improve the operational and security parameters 
of ICT infrastructure. Specifically, the deployment of the 802.1X security standard 



33

ANNUAL REPORT 2019 OF ČD CARGO, a.s.

08

was launched using Cisco ISE technology to control access to the internal network 
via Wi-Fi. The pilot site for deployment of technology was the one of General Direc-
torate of ČD Cargo, a.s. 

During 2019, the systems operated by self-sustaining obsolete technology in the 
Olomouc data centre gradually migrated to the newly acquired infrastructure in the 
same location, providing higher performance and reliability and enabling applica-
tions running in high availability mode. Existing security technologies for centralized 
LOGmanager log collection were also developed, where several other applications 
were linked. The Zabbix monitoring system was successfully implemented which is 
an integrated enterprise-level software designed to monitor the availability and per-
formance of IT infrastructure components and to automatically notify of abnormal 
events and behaviours. It provides administrators with a comprehensive overview 
of the status of managed systems and allows them to respond faster to potential 
operational and security events. 

INVESTMENT 
In 2019, ČD Cargo, a.s. investments reached CZK 4.16 billion and another CZK 335 
million were paid as advances for the acquisition and modernization of locomotives 
in the following years. This represents a year-on-year progress of approx. CZK 1.77 
billion. In addition to the above, an advance payment was made for the implemen-
tation of European Train Control System (ETCS) in locomotives of 163 and 363 series. 
The project is co-financed by the subsidy from the CEF programme. 

The Company’s investment activities primarily focused on the renovation and mod-
ernisation of railway vehicles fleet, where investments amounted to CZK 3.86 billion 
(including component repairs of freight wagons and locomotives), representing 
93 % of the total value of acquired fixed assets. 

Investments in freight wagons 
In 2019, in terms of freight wagons investments, the most significant event was the 
purchase of 180 new freight wagons of Sgg(m)rrs for combined transport and trans-
port using Innofreight swap bodies, the purchase of 145 new high-sided Eanos 
wagon and the purchase of 80 new large-capacity Zacns tank wagons. Purchase op-
tion was executed upon completion of lease term of 1,141 various series wagons. 
The change of the floors of the Eas wagons to metal floors continued. Substantial 
part of the funds was then spent on revision repairs of nearly 3,000 wagons. 

Investments in traction vehicles 
In 2019, within investments to traction vehicles, most significant investment pro-
jects were the purchase of four Vectron locomotives, which extended the fleet of in-

teroperable locomotives, the purchase of four Effishunter locomotives for railway 
operations, the purchase of one Effiliner locomotive for medium-duty freight line 
service and payment of advances for the delivery of further interoperable locomo-
tives and locomotives for medium-duty freight line service in 2020. At the same time, 
the project of modernizing diesel locomotives of the 742 series continued.  

In 2019, additional funds were again invested in component repairs of locomotives 
(including their traction engines) in accordance with the new maintenance scheme 
which should have a significant influence on the increased reliability and operability 
of traction vehicles. 

Furthermore, technical improvements of traction vehicles of various tractions and 
series were carried out, including the assembly of the traction energy and fuel con-
sumption meter. At the same time, the project of implementation of the ETCS in lo-
comotives of the 742 series continued, and the project newly concerns 163 and 363 
series locomotives. 

Within central activities in the area of Occupational Health and Safety (OHS), the 
drivers’ workplaces are gradually being modernised (installation of safety glass, air-
conditioning or auxiliary heating etc.). 

Investments in Construction and Machinery 
Another significant part of the Company’s investments are activities in the area of 
construction and machinery. These investments were focused on renewal of machin-
ery for the needs of organisational structure units, reconstruction of administrative 
and repair centres within these units, including the improvement of the working en-
vironment, and renovation of tracks in repair centers, etc. Among others, the con-
struction of a new steel hall for the freight wagons cleaning Ústí nad Labem was 
completed in 2019, and also the underfloor lathe project in Ústí nad Labem was com-
pleted. 

Other investments 
Other investments include IT investments, acquisition of handling technology and 
other. In the area of IT, the development of internal information systems continued 
in 2019, however, a new projects were also launched, in line with the medium-term 
IT strategy aiming to build a comprehensive IT architecture for sub-processes includ-
ing reporting and support of ČD Cargo, a.s. business activity. Other investments in-
cluded, for example, the reconstruction of foot lifts, the acquisition of forklifts and 
other logistics-related equipment, reconstruction of assembly bridges and renewal 
of other equipment at Repair Centres for Railway Wagons and Operating Units. 
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CODE OF CONDUCT AND EMPLOYMENT POLICY 
ČD Cargo, a.s. strictly adheres to all legal standards and regulations and is aware of 
the risks and negative social impacts associated with non-compliance with them. 
ČD Cargo, a.s. also takes care of the continuous compliance and protection of human 
rights and realizes that it is an area that is increasing importance to both the Com-
pany’s employees and customers. Therefore, there is a business and moral obligation 
to ensure respect for human rights across organisational structure units and in the 
whole value chain. 

Concurrently, a lot of attention is being paid to the ethics of the employees’ behaviour 
and corporate culture during the work, focusing, among others, on anti-corruption 
behaviour, prevention of criminal liability and personal data protection. No direct or 
indirect discrimination is permitted at ČD Cargo, a.s. The recruitment of new em-
ployees is determined by the education, expertise, qualifications and abilities of each 
candidate. During recruitment and other activities, ČD Cargo, a.s. does not exclude 
any candidate, with due respect for the principles of diversity. 

The Code of Conduct helps ensure that daily activities of the Company and behaviour 
of all employees complies with the laid down principles. In the event of unethical 
conduct, violation or reasonable suspicion of violation of the Code of Conduct and 
accepted principles of morality, each employee can report such case. At the same 
time, any such notification will be assessed and handled in accordance with the ap-
plicable "Settlement Handling" Directive. The Code of Conduct is linked to the inter-
nal standard: “Criminal Liability Prevention Program and Anti-Corruption Rules of ČD 
Cargo a.s.”, as a strengthening of the fight against corruption, bribery and conflict of 
interest. In the same way, the Company would proceed in the case of human rights 
violations. 

In 2019, no cases of the Code of Conduct or human rights abuses were reported nor 
suspected. 

The corporate culture and compliance with ethical principles are regularly one of the 
points examined during audits at ČD Cargo, a.s. 

STAFF POLICY 
In 2019, the average registered number of full-time employees was 6,945.65. The 
number of employees as of 31 December 2019 was 6,900, of which 1,410 were 
women and 5,490 were men. 

As of 31 December 2007, in the year of establishment of the Company, we recorded 
a number of 11,805 employees, of which 2,992 were women and 8,813 were men. 
During the twelve years of operation of ČD Cargo, a.s. on the market, the techno-
logical processes have been revised and optimized, and thus the number of employ-
ees was reduced by 4,856, which is more than 41 %. 
 

 
Further data on age structure and composition of employees' number according to 
key occupation are presented in the following table. 

Age structure in key occupation as of 31 December 2019 

                                                                                                                       Total                        Number of                        Number of 

                                                                                                          
employees‘                 employees up             employees over 

Position name                                                                                   number                       to 55 years                             55 years 

Railcar Repairman                                                                  498                                 339                                 159 

Wainwright                                                                                 562                                 355                                 207 

Shunter                                                                                         577                                 429                                 148 

Shunter manager                                                                    652                                 443                                 209 

Driver                                                                                         1,705                            1,071                                 634
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Similar to the other employers in the Czech Republic, there was a lack of operating 
staff in the Company, mainly in the positions of driver, shunter, shunter manager, 
welder, electrician or railcar repairman. For this reason, we use a number of new re-
cruitment tools. Vacancy information is available to interested ones not only on our 
website, but also on various work sites. 

Jobseekers are informed about the job offers via Facebook profile and presentations 
of the Company’s HR offers within job exchanges or job fairs. The main recruitment 
incentive is recruitment reward, awarded for example to train drivers in training or 
shunter and repair staff. It is granted up to CZK 80,000 and its payment is spread 
over the entire education and training of the employee. We also need to reach out 
potential jobseekers with regard to the age structure of existing employees. 

The set of provided employee benefits, in the framework of the ČD Cargo, a.s. em-
ployment policy, for example an extra week of vacation or an employer's contribution 
to supplementary pension insurance and supplementary pension savings and life 
savings is primarily used to strengthen and stabilise the employee base and is guar-
anteed by the Company's Collective Agreement. 

As part of the medical services, the Company cares for the good health of its employ-
ees and supports them in their further professional growth and education. 

At ČD Cargo, a.s. there is not only an active recruitment of employees for selected 
operating jobs, but the Company also presents itself at various job fairs or job ex-
changes. Moreover, the Company uses some high schools and universities presen-
tations. 

In this area, ČD Cargo, a.s. successfully cooperates with high schools and universi-
ties. Currently we are cooperating with thirteen high schools, including training of 
the students. For the students of these schools, this collaboration offers the benefit 
of an ensured practice at various operational working positions. In the case of higher 
education institutions, cooperation is based on educational, scientific and research 
activities, in which the main pillar from our Company’s side is conduction or, even-
tually, consultation of bachelor, diploma or doctoral theses. The students of these 
schools have the opportunity to gain practical experience in the Company as well as 
participate in solving interesting problems. The Company does not focus only on high 
schools with transport or technical specifications. With regard to the scope of activ-
ities of ČD Cargo, a.s., the Company also offers the opportunity to gain experience 
by students with economic, marketing or personnel specialisation. 

WAGE AND SOCIAL AREA, COOPERATION WITH TRADE UNIONS 
In 2019 the average salary from the payroll costs, excluding other staff costs on ČD 
Cargo, a.s., amounted to CZK 37,600.  

The principles of remuneration and employee benefits have been enshrined in the 
“ČD Cargo, a.s., collective business agreement for 2019-2020” valid for the period 
from 1 January 2019 to 31 March 2020. Fulfilment of ČD Cargo, a.s. collective busi-
ness agreement was regularly evaluated at employer and trade union meetings. In 
2019, the Company duly fulfilled all its commitments to employees in the area of re-
muneration and employee benefits. 

According to the defined rules, ČD Cargo, a.s., as an employer, made additional con-
tributions from the social fund of the Company to the employees, primarily for holi-
days, summer camps for children and young people, sports and cultural events, 
social subsidies, etc.  

In 2019, eight trade unions were active in ČD Cargo, a.s. 

EDUCATION 
ČD Cargo, a.s. has set requirements, described by internal standards, for qualifica-
tions, competences, skills and experience of employees. For their continuous devel-
opment, employee’s education focuses on providing training to meet qualification 
requirements in accordance with legislative requirements, offering specific training 
to acquire the necessary knowledge and skills even beyond qualifications, including 
the implementation of not only presenting, but also e-learning and combined train-
ing and sharing support knowledge and experience. 

OHS 
The area of occupational health and safety was fulfilled in accordance with applicable 
legislation and in cooperation with trade unions. The management of objectives and 
system management policy of OHS proceeded in accordance with the OHSAS stan-
dard. In 2019 there were two mortal work injuries without any involvement of the 
employer. Based on an investigation, ČD Cargo, a.s. has adopted measures to pre-
vent recurrence in the form of extraordinary notification of operating personnel to 
the principles of movement in the railway yard. During 2019, the Company contin-
ued its active approach to improving the working and social conditions of its em-
ployees. 

ČD Cargo, a.s. is the largest rail freight carrier in the Czech Republic, and we believe 
that thanks to our new approach to personnel, employee policy and social agenda, 
we will remain a sought-after, prospective and stable employer. 
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ANTI-CORRUPTION RULES 
The provision of services and performance of ČD Cargo, a.s. is based on the principle 
of equal access to its customers or suppliers. All the activities of ČD Cargo, a.s. are 
based on the principle of zero tolerance for corrupt in all its forms, as well as for other 
forms of unlawful conduct, especially criminal conduct. 

ČD Cargo, a.s. has adopted an internal standard entitled “Criminal liability prevention 
programand anti-corruption rules of ČD Cargo, a.s.”, which comprehensively regu-
lates the issue of criminal liability of legal entities, including the anti-corruption ap-
proach of ČD Cargo, a.s. The internal standard is essential not only in terms of its 
content, but also in terms of its type, therefor it became the basic control act 
adopted by ČD Cargo, a.s. (i.e. document of ultimate importance, respectively ex-
traordinary importance). 

The above-mentioned internal standard sets up periodic e-learning training, which 
must be attended by members of the Board of Directors of ČD Cargo, a.s., as well as 
management and administrative employees. The last periodic training was held in 
November 2019. 

As part of the fight against corruption and other illegal activities, ČD Cargo, a.s. has 
established so-called Compliance Team, which handles notifications of unlawful con-
duct which could give rise to criminal liability for ČD Cargo, a.s. (such as corruption) 
or a notice of a reasonable suspicion of an unlawful conduct. Contact addresses for 
receiving such announcements are published on the website of ČD Cargo, a.s., 
www.cdcargo.cz. 

In 2019, no cases of corruption were under investigation.  

QUALITY MANAGEMENT – ISO 
Quality management helps the Company in fulfilment of its main goal - to be a reli-
able and sought-after carrier with a stable share in the railway freight transportation 
market. The control of ISO management systems, was delegated to the Internal 
Audit department. 

The quality, environment, OHS and energy management system of ČD Cargo, a.s. is 
certified according to the following standards: 
▪   ISO 9001 (quality certificate) for business activities in the field of railway freight 

transport and shipping, realisation of services in the area of railway freight trans-
port and shipping, operation of railway and railway transport on siding, mainte-
nance and repairs of railway vehicles and their parts, rental and hire of railway 
vehicles, 

▪   ISO 14001 (environmental certificate) for the maintenance and repair of railway 
vehicles and their parts,  

▪   OHSAS 18001 (certification of occupational OHS management system) for busi-
ness activities in the area of railway freight transport and shipping, realisation of 
services in the area of railway freight transport and shipping, operation of railway 
and railway transport on siding, maintenance and repairs of railway vehicles and 
their parts, rental and hire of railway vehicles, 

▪   ISO 50001 (energy management certificate) for commercial activities in the field 
of railway freight transport and shipping, realisation of services in the area of rail-
way freight transport and shipping, operation of railway and railway transport 
on sidings, maintenance and repairs of railway vehicles and their parts, rental and 
hire of railway vehicles. 

In supervisory or re-certification audits, an independent evaluator is required annu-
ally: 
▪   verifies that ČD Cargo, a.s., complies with the requirements of standards for qual-

ity, environment, OHS and energy management; and  
▪   confirms that the corporate governance system is well established and opera-

tional. 

In addition to the above-mentioned certifications, ČD Cargo, a.s. has been certified 
by SQAS (Rail) according to CEFIC methodology since 2015 (SQAS is a European rat-
ing system used in road, rail, river, sea or combined transport of bulk and packaged 
goods, in cleaning station mode in distribution, storage terminals and in cooperation 
between companies, which takes into account the issue of hazardous chemicals). 

During SQAS (Rail) attestation, carried out every three years by an independent ac-
credited assessor, quality, safety, environmental impact and compliance with the re-
quirements of the chemical industry in the implementation of provided transport 
services are reviewed. 
 
 

AEO Certificate 

ČD Cargo, a.s. is the holder of the Authorized Economic Operator CZAEOF0801B7 
legitimacy - Simplified Customs Procedures / Security and Security Measures (AEOF). 
The Company has already obtained this certificate in 2009 and, in accordance with 
the applicable customs legislation, successfully managed to keep it in re-assessment 
in 2017. The AEO is recognised and taken into account in all EU Member States and 
in some “third countries” based on agreement, in particular when assessing risks re-
lated to safety aspects. Without AEO permission, access to customs simplifications 
is nowadays not possible. 



Customs services 
As part of supplementary services ČD Cargo, a.s. provides to its customers represen-
tation services in customs procedures and statistics management Intrastat. Cus-
toms agents’ activity is an integral part of comprehensive range of services in order 
to provide railway transport. The Company offers its clients the opportunity to dis-
cuss the export and import procedures in the offices of customs representatives and 
additionally the customs clearance procedure at the stations in Český Těšín and 
Valašské Meziříčí. An advantage of customer service at waypoint stations is that 
goods delivered to the stations are already cleared by customs. These services use 
mainly importers and exporters of bulk substrates.  

Amongst the Company’s customers there are also many smaller companies that 
transport their goods by type of transport other than rail, especially at internal work-
places, which do not have the facility of the intermediate stops. The Company con-
siders this service to be significant, because in addition to profits, it also carries the 
prestige and awareness of ČD Cargo, a.s. as a versatile business partner. 

As a further service, ČD Cargo offers its customers a temporary warehouse in 
Lovosice with an area of 4,068 m². Customers can use these premises to store goods 
imported from 'third countries' until they are cleared or transported under customs 
control. We can offer complete services related to placement in a temporary ware-
house as well as possible further transport to the final destination on T1 in NCTS 
regime. The logistics hall in Lovosice is convenient for reloading goods from railway 
wagons for further distribution on the road. 

SIMPLIFIED TRANSIT REGIME BASED ON NL CIM 
As of 1 May 2019, long-awaited changes to the rules for the application of the sim-
plified transit regime based on NL CIM have occurred. On that date, the obligation 
for railway undertakings benefiting from simplified transit procedures to guarantee 
the customs debt during the transport of the consignment came into force. Since 
ČD Cargo, a.s. is an authorised railway undertaking to use the simplified transit pro-
cedure and has sufficient amount to secure the customs debt, a smooth transition 
to the new conditions for shipments where a simplified transit procedure based on 
NL CIM was used before the rules has changed was possible. In connection with the 
occurrence of the obligation to secure a customs debt, changes have also occurred 
in the transport of goods within the European Union. If a consignment between 
countries of the European Union passes through a 'third country', it is necessary to 
transport the consignment in transit regime and to guarantee the customs debt for 
transit. In these shipments the simplified transit regime is the best solution that is 
the least burdening the customer. 

The Company and the Community 
INTERNATIONAL ACTIVITIES AND RELATIONSHIPS 
International activities of ČD Cargo, a.s. are coordinated in cooperation with the par-
ent company ČD, a.s. This is done, among others, within the framework of the rules 
set out in the Agreement on the Provision of International Business concluded be-
tween ČD Cargo and ČD. ČD Cargo is an independent member only in the Central 
Clearing Center (BCC) and the Trans-Siberian Coordination Committee (KSTP). We 
are members of the Freight Transport Forum and its study groups within the Inter-
national Railway Union (UIC). Currently, ČD Cargo's representative leads the ISR As-
sembly in RAILDATA organisation, which operates central European data exchange 
systems. Within the Community of European Railways and Infrastructure Compa-
nies (CER), we focus on legislation related to wagon noise, combined transport, 
ERTMS, freight corridors and capacity allocation. The main focus within the Organi-
zation for Cooperation of Railways (OSŽD) and KSTP is, besides establishing and 
strengthening business contacts, mainly in the area of development of the unified 
consignment note CIM / SMGS and container transports. We are involved in an in-
ternational project to implement the Telematics Applications for Freight Interoper-
ability Specifications (TSI TAF). In doing so, we make use of our experience from the 
already described ties with the infrastructure manager. 

In 2019, ČD Cargo, a.s. actively presented itself at the Transport Logistics trade fair 
in Munich and TransRussia in Moscow, where a memorandum of cooperation with 
RŽD Logistics was signed. Cooperation with Chinese partners has also been devel-
oped by signing a memorandum of strategic cooperation with the Chinese Railways 
subsidiary CRCT and promoting it at the China Chengdu International Supply Chain 
and Smart Logistics Expo 2019. ČD Cargo's development measures and IN-
NOFREIGHT technology were presented at the 2nd RŽD Transport and Business Con-
ference in Kaliningrad. Joint activities of carriers of the V4 group also developed 
during the year. 

At the end of September, the OPTIYARD project was successfully completed with fi-
nancial support from the European Union under the Shift2Rail Support Program. 
The result is pilot software for process optimisation in marshalling yards and termi-
nals based on real-time information gathered and processed. 

In 2019, the Rail Freight Forward (RFF) initiative, of which ČD Cargo, a.s. is a mem-
ber, presented a major information campaign for the so-called Noem train. The goal 
is to double the current share of rail freight by 2030 up to 30 %. The initiative seeks 
to involve railway undertakings, infrastructure managers and politicians across 
whole Europe in realising this division of transport work. 
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ENVIRONMENTAL PROTECTION 
Environmental protection at ČD Cargo, a.s. is centrally managed by the Department 
of Maintenance and Repair of the Directorate-General. The actual execution of ac-
tivities related to environmental protection is provided by executive units of ČD 
Cargo a.s. (SOKV, PJ).  

České dráhy, a.s. provides methodical support for  ČD Cargo, a.s. in the area of ecol-
ogy on the basis of the Mandate Agreement concluded on 27 May 2008 and Amend-
ment No. 1 concluded on 22 April 2016. Such includes especially comprehensive 
service related to removal of consequences of incidents, methodical support during 
implementation of existing environmental remedies, supervision and post-remedial 
monitoring, environmental protection trainings. 

In June 2019, ČD Cargo, a.s. managed to keep its ISO 14001: 2015 certification. The 
relevant certificate valid until 2 June 2021 is available on the website of ČD Cargo, a.s. 
The external audit did not identify any discrepancies but only a few recommendations, 
which were resolved immediately after the external audit. 

By adopting the environmental policy, all employees of ČD Cargo, a.s. are bound to 
environmental management, primarily goalf of which are to describe, review, assess 
and improve the EMS management system in terms of waste and the negative im-
pacts of activities and technologies on the environment (e.g. in compliance with pol-
lution prevention principles, readiness for disasters, purchase of environmentally 
friendly products, environmental protection, and primarily an effort to reduce the 
production of waste).  

The risks associated with environmental issues are emergency oil spills during repair 
operations, refuelling and incidents during operations. These risks are classified as 
significant environmental aspects and are being resolved by the relevant internal leg-
islation and via emergency plans. 

The main indicator of system performance is waste production, which has been 
maintained at a reasonable level for a long time. The quality of wastewater and the 
measurement of stationary sources emissions has been monitored as well. 

In 2019, a number of activities with a positive impact on the environment were im-
plemented. For example, ecological disposal of unnecessary traction wagons, ther-
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mal insulation of the assembly plant in SOKV České Budějovice and thermal insula-
tion of the administrative building in PJ České Budějovice (saving energy for heating 
and limiting the discharge of greenhouse gases). Construction of a new steel hall for 
traction wagons cleaning (reduction of particulate pollutant emission during dis-
mantling of traction wagons at a workplace equipped with air filtration) was started 
at SOKV Ústí nad Labem. In the OKV Nymburk thermal insulation of the outbuildings 
of the hall and the carpentry (reduction of heat energy costs) was carried out. In 
SOKV Ostrava, the installation of an exhaust system in the old OHV electrical hall 
was implemented (reduction of emissions resulting from the turning of HDV 
wheelsets by means of exhaust units equipped with air filtration). 

Fire protection in 2019: 
In accordance with the “Organisational Rules” of ČD Cargo, a.s., the Maintenance 
and Repairs of Railway Vehicles department continues to be the guarantor of fire 
prevention. The documentation is updated on a continual basis and eventual inspec-
tions, performed by the Czech Fire Service, identifies no failures. 

As of 31 December 2018, the Agreement on the termination of the Contract on Mu-
tual Assistance in Emergencies, Fires and Other Contract Specified Activities No. 
04066-2015-O12 was concluded. Since 1 January 2019, ČD Cargo, a.s. has been 
charged only for the actual interventions of JPO HZS SŽ.  

In 2019, there were 125 interventions in total for ČD Cargo a.s., out of which 8 were fires 
in traction vehicles due to technical failures, and 2 were fires of vehicles, mostly due to 
someone else’s fault and 2 cases of ignition of overheated bearing. Two cases were 
caused by smoke-filled HKV engine room due to the insulation of the cabling. Further 
interventions were related to removing dripping from the tanks or putting derailed train 
back on tracks. Other interventions can be described as so-called additional services per-
formed under contractual relationship and were related to securing loose cargo on ve-
hicles, transfer of cargo, tree pruning, wagon washing, securing roof covering damaged 
by weather conditions or disposal of troublesome insects in ČD Cargo premises. 

The total costs of ČD Cargo, a.s., allocated to the fire protection for 2019, amounted 
to CZK 958,146 (see table). 

Constant attention at all levels of management is given to prevention in the field of 
fire protection. 

Of which: 

ČD Cargo, a.s. ČD Cargo, a.s. total Assistance in removing  
total cost for number of interventions Fires Drips the consequences Other 
interventions in 2019 for the year 2019 and burns and reseals of emergency operations 

                                        CZK 958,146 125 17 19 33 56



39

ANNUAL REPORT 2019 OF ČD CARGO, a.s.

08

Corporate Social Responsibility 
ČD Cargo, a.s. participates in various projects in this area. The Company is a tradi-
tional partner of projects mostly organised in cooperation with the parent company 
ČD, such as Kinematovlak, which is visited by children attending nursery and primary 
schools at stations in selected cities in Czech Republic. Fairy tales are projected and 
there is also a play car in this train. Also in 2019 so-called Legiovlak continued to 
travel around the Czech Republic, which helps the public and especially young people 
to restore awareness of Czechoslovak legions and their contribution to forming in-
dependent Czechoslovakia. The first stop of Legiovlak in 2019 was Frýdlant nad Os-
travicí, the last Zbiroh. An independent and traditional project is the Prevention Train 
of Safe Railway, whose next edition was also supported by ČD Cargo, a.s. 

We supported youth sports activities, such as floorball or young athletes. In 2019 
we were active participants in the project Wheel for Life. Support for railway mod-
elling also has also a place in our portfolio of social responsibility. 

As part of its corporate social responsibility, ČD Cargo, a.s. decided to support the 
OBROK scout festival. It was an event that really deserved support, because in 2019 
celebrated the 30th anniversary of free scouting, which was renewed for the third 
time after the Velvet Revolution 

In 2019, we continued to issue the certificate of a socially responsible company, to 
which ČD Cargo, a.s. appreciating the cooperation with companies that have de-
cided to transfer at least part of their transports from road to rail. Traditionally, ČD 
Cargo, a.s. cooperates with Diakonie Broumov. For many years we have been pro-
viding transportation of selected textiles and other humanitarian material for this 
social cooperative. From approximately fifty stations in the Czech Republic, goods 
are transported by rail to the sorting centre in Broumov. In total, we transported al-
most 350 wagons for the Diakonia Broumov in 2019. 

As part of the promotion of rail transport, ČD Cargo, a.s., participated in the Railway 
Day, which took place in September in Lužná u Rakovníka. We also supported various 
celebrations to mark the commencement of operation on railway lines, etc. 
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Companies in which ČD Cargo has an Equity Interest 
CD CARGO GERMANY GMBH  
Date of entry in the Commercial Register: 11 October 2004 
Share capital: EUR 50,000 
ČD Cargo, a.s. interest: 100 % 
Principal business activity: mediation of services in freight transportation on behalf 
of and for ČD Cargo, a.s., shipping.  

CD CARGO AUSTRIA GMBH 
Date of entry in the Commercial Register: 30 March 2007 
Share capital: EUR 275,000  
ČD Cargo, a.s. interest: 100% granddaughter (100 % CD Cargo Germany GmbH) 
Principal business activity: mediation of services in freight transportation, shipping.  

 CD CARGO SLOVAKIA, S.R.O. 
Date of entry in the Commercial Register: 24 September 2008 
Share capital: EUR 5,397,475 
ČD Cargo, a.s. interest: 100 %  
Principal business activity: mediation of services in freight transport on behalf of and 
for ČD Cargo, a.s., shipping, lease of freight wagons and traction vehicles. 

CD CARGO POLAND SP. Z O.O. 
Date of entry in the Commercial Register: 18 December 2006 
Share capital: PLN 41,966,000 (Polish zloty) 
ČD Cargo, a.s. interest: 100 % 
Principal business activity: mediation of services in freight transportation on behalf 
of and for ČD Cargo, a.s., shipping, lease of freight wagons and traction vehicles, op-
eration of rail transportation. 

ČD LOGISTICS, A.S. 
Date of entry in the Commercial Register: 16 June 2007 
Share capital: CZK 10,000,000 
ČD Cargo, a.s. interest: 100 % 
Principal business activity: shipping. 

AUTO TERMINAL NYMBURK, S.R.O. 
Date of entry in the Commercial Register: 24 October 2012 
Share capital: CZK 200,000 
ČD Cargo, a.s. interest: 100 % 
Principal business activity: shipping and technical activities in transportation. The 
company is dormant. 

TERMINAL BRNO, A.S. 
Date of entry in the Commercial Register: 25 July 2008 
Share capital: CZK 71,550,000 
ČD Cargo, a.s. interest: 66.93 % (CZK 47.89 million) 
Principal business activity: operations of a combined transportation terminal in 
Brno. 

ČD-DUSS TERMINÁL, A.S. 
Date of entry in the Commercial Register: 1 March 2007 
Share capital: CZK 4,000,000 
ČD Cargo, a.s. interest: 51 % (CZK 2.04 million) 
Principal business activity: operations of the container terminal in Lovosice. 

RAILLEX, A.S. 
Date of entry in the Commercial Register: 17 June 2006 
Share capital: CZK 2,000,000 
ČD Cargo, a.s. interest: 50 % (CZK 1 million) 
Principal business activity: cargo handling and technical transportation services.  
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BOHEMIAKOMBI, SPOL. S R.O. 
Date of entry in the Commercial Register: 17 April 1992 
Share capital: CZK 6,000,000 
ČD Cargo, a.s. interest: 30 % (CZK 1.8 million) 
Principal business activity: mediation of services in the field of transportation except 
for transportation by own means. 

OSTRAVSKÁ DOPRAVNÍ SPOLEČNOST, A.S. 
Date of entry in the Commercial Register: 30 May 1995 
Share capital: CZK 15,000,000  
ČD Cargo, a.s. interest: 50 % (CZK 7.5 million) 
Principal business activity: operation of railway transport and lease of locomotives. 

OSTRAVSKÁ DOPRAVNÍ SPOLEČNOST - CARGO, A.S. 
Date of entry in the Commercial Register: 1 January 2017 
Share capital: CZK 2,100,000 
ČD Cargo, a.s. interest: 20 % (CZK 420 thousand) 
Principal business activity: operation of railway transport. 

BUREAU CENTRAL DE CLEARING SOCIÉTÉ COOPÉRATIVE À  RESPONSABILITÉ 
LIMITÉE (BCC S.C.R.L.) 
Date of entry in the Commercial Register: 17 December 1996 
Share capital (fixed part): EUR 18,750 
ČD Cargo, a.s. interest: 3.36 % (EUR 3,750) 
Principal business activity: non-cash settlement of mutual payments in railway 
transport.  
 
In 2019, there were no changes in the structure of the ČD Cargo, a.s. equity interest 
within ČD Consolidation Group. 
▪   On 19 Janury 2019, the branch of ČD Cargo, a.s. was registered in Austria under 

the trade name ČD Cargo, a.s. Niederlassung Wien with principal business activity 
of rail freight transport. 
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The separate financial statements prepared in accordance with IFRS as adopted by 
the EU are the statutory financial statements. 

 

Investment activities* 

09
Financial Situation of ČD Cargo, a.s.

Investment activities of ČD Cargo, a.s. (CZK mil.) under IFRS 2019 2018 2017 2016 

Acquisition of freight wagons 1,190 267 313 - 

Renovation and modernisation of freight wagons 51 17 23 20 

Acquisition of traction vehicles 548 295 104 621 

Renovation and modernisation of traction vehicles 107 47 83 35 

Machinery investments 37 4 8 26 

Construction investments 59 78 51 23 

Other investments 198 194 224 174 

Component accounting for inspection repairs of railway vehicles 1,969 1,609 628 621 

Total investments 4,159 2,511 1,434 1,520 

Advances paid for investments 335 213 30 - 

Advance payments for subsidies 141 19 - -

* The investments are presented accrording to the International Financial Reporting Standards in Annual report 2019 of ČD Cargo
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Funding 
In 2019, the ČD Cargo, a.s. investment and operational activities were financed by 
a combination of the Company’s own cash flow and external sources, which com-
prises short-term bank loans, intercompany loans, supplier loans, leases and bonds. 

OPERATING BANK LOANS AND INTERCOMPANY LOANS 
In funding its operational needs, ČD Cargo, a.s. has limits of overdraft loans in the max-
imum amount of CZK 1.5 billion provided by four banks. Furthermore, ČD Cargo, a.s. 
has been included in the Group’s cash-pooling of ČD, a.s. Within the cash-pooling, 
ČD Cargo, a.s. has a drawing limit of up to CZK 0.3 billion and an additional contractual 
limit of CZK 0.7 billion. As of 31 December 2019, the amount of CZK 0.25 billion was 
drawn in excess of the cash-pooling limit. As of 31 December 2019, other limits or 
credit frames were not drawn up. 

PROMISSORY NOTES PROGRAMME 
The Promissory Notes Programme was approved in the amount of CZK 1.5 billion. 
The The Supervisory Board of ČD Cargo, a.s must be informed about the intention of 
drawing over CZK 1 billion. Framework contracts are approved for individual banks 
in total amount of CZK 2 billion. During 2019, the Promissory Notes Programme was 
not used, however, the promissory note framework is left as a form of short-term fi-
nancing provision, directly independent of bank resources.  

LEASES 
In 2019, a lease contract was concluded with ČSOB Leasing, a.s. for the purpose of 
financing 4 Siemens Vectron traction vehicles of the 383 series. In the same year, 
leasing contracts were concluded with ČSOB Leasing, a.s. in order to finance 4 Eff-
ishunter traction vehicles of the 744 series. 

BONDS 
This funding source significantly strengthens the financial stability of the Company’s 
cash flow due to its long-term nature. In 2019, there was the Company's 8th bond 
issue in the nominal value of CZK 1 billion, followed by the 9th bond issue in the nom-
inal value of CZK 0.77 billion. As of 31 December 2019, ČD Cargo, a.s. has issued 
bonds in the total amount of CZK 4.77 billion. 

Risk Management 
ČD Cargo, a.s., monitors, assesses and manages all material business risks, specifi-
cally commercial, operating, financial and compliance risks within the ČD Cargo, a.s. 
integrated risk management system. 

The basic documents of risk management system are: 
▪   Risk Management Policy - defines the Company's objectives, basic principles and 

risk management strategy, further defines the framework of the risk manage-
ment roles, responsibilities and competencies. 

▪   Risk Management Committee Statute - defines the role, competence, responsi-
bility and manner in which the Risk Management Committee acts and decides. 

▪   Risk Management Manual - is an internal standard setting out specific procedures 
(identification, analysis, measurement, management strategy, processes and 
procedures for managing, monitoring, reporting and consolidating risks) in man-
aging individual risks. The Risk Management Manual is valid for the entire ČD, a.s. 
Group. 

▪   Risk Management Strategy - identifies risks, their regular monitoring, quantifi-
cation and limitation of the risk impact on the Company's profit. Within Risk Man-
agement Strategy, the Company's Risk Appetite is approved once a year. 

▪   Financial Risk Management Strategy at ČD Cargo, a.s. - specifies the procedures 
and methods for financial risk in order to significantly reduce the risk to the Com-
pany from operating and trading activities and financial market transactions. 

Unified software support for risk management "eRisk" also significantly contributes 
to the standardisation of procedures. The introduced unified method of risk man-
agement created preconditions for further developments and improvements of the 
processes of monitoring, assessment and reporting of all significant risks. 

The principal objective of the implemented system for active risk management is to 
achieve a maximum reduction in the negative impact of individual risks on the eco-
nomic result of the Company, i.e. minimise the impact of unused opportunities on 
revenue and reduce the negative impact of costs. In 2019, as part of the active risk 
management, the Company introduced the ongoing monitoring and assessment of 
compliance with approved risk limits and the overall risk appetite of the Company. 

The outputs from the risk monitoring systems are e regularly discussed by the Risk 
Management Committee and subsequently shered with other bodies of the Company. 

BUSINESS RISK 
In 2019, in connection with the development of the transport market, ČD Cargo, a.s. 
continued to face strong downward pressure on prices in particular from private rail-
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way carriers (in the segment of block trains). However, the competitiveness of ČD 
Cargo, a.s. incresed significantly, thanks to the offer of transportation abroad, espe-
cially in Poland and Austria. Business negotiations were conducted to stabilise freight 
volumes and revenues, and thus offer customers modern transport technologies. 

OPERATIONAL RISK 
Operational risks are defined as risks related to extraordinary events, property dam-
age or criminal act regarding property and transported goods. 

ČD Cargo, a.s. adresses a range of operational risks by negotiating the liability or 
property insurance. The responsibility of a carrier for a damage caused to another 
party in connection with operations of railway transport on national and regional 
railways, the responsibility of a holder of freight wagons or insurance of selected 
tranction vehicles are the most significant risks insured in this way. 

FINANCIAL RISKS 
Financial risks are manage based on the “Financial Risk Management Strategy of ČD 
Cargo, a.s.” This document defines the objectives and methods for each risk as well 
as the permitted derivative operations to hedge them. 

LIQUIDITY RISK 
The liquidity risk at ČD Cargo, a.s. is with regard to the permanent provision of a suffi-
cient volume and diversification of available funds necessary for the settlement of 
financial liabilities and planned  investments in Company’s development. On a daily 
basis, the Company assesses the available funds and cash flows and liquidity devel-
opment. 

The Company is actively engaged in securing planned external financial resources 
and thus ensures sufficient funds for short and long-term financing, while maintain-
ing the Company's financial health. 

CREDIT RISK 
Standard instruments are used in various combinations for additional hedge of po-
tential risk receivables. In the same time, ČD Cargo, a.s. is applying continuous mon-
itoring of individual receivables by individual companies, by default periods and other 
facts, using the set methodology and reports. Individual responsible employees of 
the parent company and the senior staff of the Receivables Commission are contin-
uously engaged in past due receivables development. 

CURRENCY RISK 
Given that a significant part of the Company’s revenue is realised in Euro, the Com-
pany pays constant and systematic attention to currency risk management. To mit-
igate negative impacts on the Company’s financial performance, a wide range of 

instruments is used, which are applied on a short-term as well as medium-term basis 
based on their underlying characteristics.  

The goal of the currency risk management is to implement currency hedging so that 
the negative impact on the management of the company is not higher than the ap-
proved risk appetite of the Company. To achieve the required status, methods and 
instruments for the currency risk management arising from the Financial Risk Man-
agement Strategy are approved. 

During 2019, ČD Cargo, a.s. mitigated the risk of possible domestic currency appre-
ciation through the use of continuous hedging of the exchange rate of the Czech 
Crown against the Euro. With the respect the estimated revenue for the rendered 
serices in EUR and its internal price calculation, reduced by the expenses in the same 
currency, the hedging of the CZK/EUR exchange rate will be subsequently agreed 
based on he current market situation and in line with the Financial Risk Manage-
ment Strategy, as approved by the Company’s Board of Directors. 

COMMODITY RISK – PRICE OF DIESEL 
The significant cost component represents diesel, which ČD Cargo, a.s. consumes 
during its operations. In 2019, in line with the Financial Risk Management Strategy, 
the Company used hedging of the price of diesel, which reduced the Company’s po-
tential commodity risk. 

The goal of the commodity risk management is to implement hedging so that the 
negative impact on the management of the Company is not higher than the ap-
proved risk appetite of the Company. To achieve the required status, the methods 
and instruments for the commodity risk management arising from the Financial Risk 
Management Strategy are approved. 

INTEREST-RATE RISK 
Interest rate risk may be represented by changes in floating interest rates. The goal 
of the commodity risk management is to implement hedging so that the negative 
impact on the management of the Company is not higher than the approved risk ap-
petite of the Company. The maximum share of funding using a floating interest rate 
is specified at 50 % of the total volume under the Financial Risk Management Strat-
egy. To achieve the required status, the methods and instruments for the interest 
rate risk management arising from the Financial Risk Management Strategy are ap-
proved. 

Through various hedging instruments, interest rates are hedged to eliminate any po-
tential risk of the floating rate increase, in compliance with the Financial Risk Man-
agement Strategy. 
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In the near future, ČD Cargo, a.s. expects to stabilise its transport performance, de-
spite continued competition from other railway carriers and the expected global 
economy cooling down. Decreases, due to possible losses in the area of domestic 
transport, caused by the decarbonisation of electricity and heating, will be balanced 
by international transport performance, in connection with expansion of the fleet. 
The fleet will be expanded by further intermodal locomotives and by obtaining the 
necessary certificates for rail transport operation in Germany. 

The Company will continue to implement measures to increase the efficiency of its 
internal processes and utilization of its capacities and assets. In the area of invest-
ments, ČD Cargo, a.s. will proceed in the modernisation and renewal of the locomo-

tive and wagon fleet. Further, the Company will focus mainly on wagons for trans-
portation of commodities, where recession is not expected (intermodal transport, 
fuel). Replacement of brake blocks and implementation of the mobile parts of ETCS 
will also continue. The Compan will focus on reducing of operating costs and improv-
ing the employees’ working environment. 

The Company's economic objectives mainly comprises maintaining the stable level 
of cash flow, achived by securing the planned level of revenues from its own trans-
port, by the effective utilization of cost items and by ensuring sufficient medium and 
long-term liquidity of the Company. 

10
Expected Development, Objectives and Intended Activities



By transporting with 
ČD Cargo, we save together 
2 m kg CO2 daily
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The Amount of the Issued Share Capital 
As at the balance sheet date of 31 December 2019, the share capital of the Company 
amounted to CZK 8,494,000 thousand, fully paid. 
 
During the accounting period 2019, ČD Cargo, a.s. did not acquire its own shares or 
any other own shares. 
 
 

Ownership Structure 
SOLE SHAREHOLDER: 
České dráhy, a.s. 
Prague 1, nábřeží L. Svobody 1222, 110 15 
Corporate ID: 709 94 226 

11
Share Capital
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Report of the Supervisory Board 
Report of the Supervisory Board of ČD Cargo, a.s., on the performance of its remit for the year 2019 and the results of the supervisory activities

During 2019, the Supervisory Board of ČD Cargo, a.s., held ten meetings, in which it 
always had a quorum. 

The Company’s Supervisory Board executed its powers and fulfilled its tasks in compli-
ance with the legal regulations and the Company’s Articles of Association. The Super-
visory Board monitored the execution of the function of the Board of Directors in 
carrying out the Company’s business activities. The Board of Directors of ČD Cargo, a.s., 
provided the Supervisory Board with the necessary information and supporting docu-
mentation for its monitoring activities. The Chairman of the Board of Directors, to-
gether with other members of the Board of Directors, regularly participated in all 
meetings and continuously informed the Supervisory Board of the Company’s business 
activities and results of operations and of the results of operations of the subsidiaries. 

The Supervisory Board also discussed and evaluated the request of the Company’s 
Board of Directors for consent with specified legal acts. 

The Supervisory Board states that it had all conditions in place to duly exercise its 
activities. During the performance of its supervisory activities, the Supervisory Board 
identified no breaches or failures to meet its obligations on the part of ČD Cargo a.s., 
or its individual members of the Board of Directors as stipulated by the legal regula-
tions, the ČD Cargo a.s., Articles of Association, the Company’s internal guidelines, 
and the sole shareholder’s instructions acting in the capacity of the General Meeting 
or on the Supervisory Board’s own initiative addressed to the Company’s Board of 
Directors. 
 
 
In Prague, on 4 March 2020 

 

 
Václav Nebeský 

Chairman of the Supervisory Board

12
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The Company’s Audit Committee executed its duties and performed all tasks in ac-
cordance with legal regulations, the Company’s Articles of Association, and the ef-
fective contractual arrangements. It systematically monitored the preparation of 
the Company’s separate and consolidated financial statements, the audit and in-
terim audit thereof, and related documents for the periods from 1 January 2019 to 
30 September 2019 and 1 January 2019 to 31 December 2019. 

The Company’s Audit Committee was informed by the Company’s representatives, 
duly and on time, of the relevant information and documents related to the individ-
ual steps of preparing the Company’s separate and consolidated financial state-
ments under IFRS as adopted by the EU and the Report on Relations for the year 
2019, and of preparing the Annual Report of ČD Cargo, a.s. for the year 2019. 

The Audit Committee also assessed the impartiality and independence of the Com-
pany’s auditor, PricewaterhouseCoopers Audit, s.r.o., discussed and communicated 
selected information, and issued statements and communications in accordance 
with the legislation. During the preparation of the separate and consolidated finan-
cial statements and the mandatory audit thereof, the preparation of the Report on 
Relations and related activities, the Audit Committee, acting in its capacity, did not 
identify any errors or breaches of the legal regulations or the Company’s Articles of 
Association by either the Company or the auditor. 

With regard to the facts stated above and after discussing the draft auditor’s report 
on the separate and consolidated financial statements and the contents of the Re-
port on Relations, the Audit Committee recommended that the Company’s bodies 
discuss the separate financial statements along with the Auditor’s Report and the 
Report on Relations along with the Auditor’s Report for the year 2019 and that the 
sole shareholder, acting in the capacity as the General Meeting, approve the docu-
ments. It also recommended that the Company’s bodies discuss the consolidated fi-
nancial statements of ČD Cargo, a.s., under IFRS as adopted by the EU for the year 
from 1 January 2019 to 31 December 2019, and that the sole shareholder, acting in 
the capacity as the General Meeting, approve the documents. 

In addition, the Audit Committee monitored the integrity of the financial information 
provided by the Company and the internal control systems and risk management in 
the Company. It also discussed the report on the internal audit for the year 2019. 

With regard to the facts referred to above, the Company’s Audit Committee states 
that it complied with the obligations ensuing from legal regulations, in particular 
the Act on Auditors 93/2009 Coll. dated 26 March 2009 and the Company’s Articles 
of Association, as amended. 

In Prague, on 8 April 2020 

 

 
Oldřich Vojíř 

Chairman of the Audit Committee

Report of the Audit Committee  
Report of the Audit Committee of ČD Cargo, a.s to the Annual report of ČD Cargo, a.s for the year 2019
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Report of the Audit Committee of ČD Cargo, a.s., on the Report on Relations for the year 2019  

The Audit Committee of ČD Cargo, a.s., in line with the relevant provisions of Act 
93/2009 Coll., on Auditors, as amended, and the Articles of Association of ČD Cargo, a.s., 
as amended, continuously monitored the proceedings taken in the preparation of the 
Report on Relations for the year 2019, from the preparatory phase. 
 
The Audit Committee was made aware by the representatives of ČD Cargo, a.s., duly 
and on time, of the relevant information and materials related to individual steps 
taken in preparing the Report on Relations for the year 2019. 
 
The Audit Committee also assessed the impartiality and independence of the Com-
pany’s auditor, PricewaterhouseCoopers Audit, s.r.o., discussed and communicated 
selected accounting information, and issued statements and communications in ac-
cordance with applicable legislation. During the preparation of the Report on Rela-
tions for the year 2019, the obligatory audit thereof and the relating activities, the 

Audit Committee, acting in its capacity, identified no errors or breaches of the legal 
regulations or the Company’s Articles of Association by either the Company or the 
auditor. 
 
With regard to the facts outlined above and with regard to the draft Auditor’s Opinion, 
the Audit Committee recommends that the Report on Relations of ČD Cargo, a.s., is 
discussed by the bodies of ČD Cargo, a.s., and approved by the sole shareholder acting 
in the capacity of the General Meeting. 
 
Based on the information disclosed above, the Audit Committee of ČD Cargo, a.s., 
states that it fulfilled the obligations arising from legal regulations, principally from 
Act 93/2009 Coll., on Auditors of 26 March 2009, as amended, the Articles of Asso-
ciation of ČD Cargo, a.s., as amended, and that it took into consideration all infor-
mation it has received related to the Report on Relations for the year 2019. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Oldřich Vojíř 
Chairman of the Audit Committee



51

ANNUAL REPORT 2019 OF ČD CARGO, a.s.

12

Report of the Audit Committee of ČD Cargo, a.s., on the Separate Financial Statements of ČD Cargo, a.s., prepared under IFRS for the year from 1 January 2019 
to 31 December 2019, including the Auditor’s Opinion.

The Audit Committee of ČD Cargo, a.s., in line with the relevant provisions of Act 
93/2009 Coll., on Auditors, as amended, and the Articles of Association of ČD Cargo, a.s., 
as amended, continuously monitored the proceedings taken in the preparation of the 
separate financial statements of ČD Cargo, a.s., under IFRS, the procedure of the audit 
of the financial statements and all related documents for the year from 1 January 2019 
to 31 December 2019, from the preparation phase of the whole process. 

The Audit Committee was made aware by the representatives of ČD Cargo, a.s., duly 
and on time, of the relevant information and materials related to individual steps 
taken in the preparation of the separate financial statements of ČD Cargo, a.s., under 
IFRS, for the year from 1 January 2019 to 31 December 2019. 

The Audit Committee also assessed the impartiality and independence of the Com-
pany’s auditor, PricewaterhouseCoopers Audit, s.r.o., discussed and communicated 
selected accounting information, and issued statements and communications in ac-
cordance with applicable legislation. During the preparation of the separate financial 
statements under IFRS for the year from 1 January 2019 to 31 December 2019, the 
obligatory audit thereof and the relating activities, the Audit Committee, acting in 

its capacity, identified no errors or breaches of the legal regulations or the Company’s 
Articles of Association by either the Company or the auditor. 

With regard to the facts outlined above and with regard to the Auditor’s Opinion on 
the separate financial statements prepared under IFRS, the Audit Committee rec-
ommends that the separate financial statements of ČD Cargo, a.s., prepared under 
IFRS for the year from 1 January 2019 to 31 December 2019 and the Auditor’s Opin-
ion be discussed by the bodies of ČD Cargo, a.s., and approved by the sole share-
holder acting in the capacity of the General Meeting. 

Based on the information disclosed above, the Audit Committee of ČD Cargo, a.s., 
states that it fulfilled the obligations arising from legal regulations, principally from 
Act 93/2009 Coll., on Auditors of 26 March 2009, as amended, the Articles of Asso-
ciation of ČD Cargo, a.s., as amended, and that it took into consideration all infor-
mation it has received related to the separate financial statements of ČD Cargo, a.s., 
under IFRS, for the year from 1 January 2019 to 31 December 2019, and the Auditor’s 
Opinion. 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Oldřich Vojíř 
Chairman of the Audit Committee



52

ANNUAL REPORT 2019 OF ČD CARGO, a.s.

12

Report of the Audit Committee of ČD Cargo, a.s., on the Consolidated Financial Statements of ČD Cargo, a.s., prepared under IFRS for the year from 1 January 
2019 to 31 December 2019, including the Auditor’s Opinion

The Audit Committee of ČD Cargo, a.s., in line with the relevant provisions of Act 
93/2009 Coll., on Auditors, as amended, and the Articles of Association of ČD Cargo, a.s., 
as amended, continuously monitored the proceedings taken in the preparation of the 
consolidated financial statements of ČD Cargo, a.s., under IFRS, the procedure of the 
audit of the financial statements and all related documents for the year from 1 January 
2019 to 31 December 2019, from the preparation phase of the whole process. 
 
The Audit Committee was made aware by the representatives of ČD Cargo, a.s., duly 
and on time, of the relevant information and materials related to individual steps 
taken in preparing the consolidated financial statements of ČD Cargo, a.s., under 
IFRS, for the year from 1 January 2019 to 31 December 2019. 
 
The Audit Committee also assessed the impartiality and independence of the Com-
pany’s auditor, PricewaterhouseCoopers Audit, s.r.o., discussed and communicated 
selected accounting information, and issued statements and communications in ac-
cordance with applicable legislation. During the preparation of the consolidated fi-
nancial statements under IFRS for the year from 1 January 2019 to 31 December 
2019, the obligatory audit thereof and the relating activities, the Audit Committee, 

acting in its capacity, identified no errors or breaches of the legal regulations or the 
Company’s Articles of Association by either the Company or the auditor. 
 
With regard to the facts outlined above and with regard to the Auditor’s Opinion on 
the consolidated financial statements prepared under IFRS, the Audit Committee 
recommends that the consolidated financial statements of ČD Cargo, a.s., prepared 
under IFRS for the year from 1 January 2019 to 31 December 2019 and the Auditor’s 
Opinion be discussed by the bodies of ČD Cargo, a.s., and approved by the sole share-
holder acting in the capacity of the General Meeting. 
 
Based on the information disclosed above, the Audit Committee of ČD Cargo, a.s., 
states that it fulfilled the obligations arising from legal regulations, principally from 
Act 93/2009 Coll., on Auditors of 26 March 2009, as amended, the Articles of Associ-
ation of ČD Cargo, a.s., as amended, and that it took into consideration all informa-
tion it has received related to the consolidated financial statements of ČD Cargo, a.s., 
under IFRS, for the year from 1 January 2019 to 31 December 2019, and the Auditor’s 
Opinion. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Oldřich Vojíř 
Chairman of the Audit Committee
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Independent auditor’s report 
to the shareholder of ČD Cargo, a.s. 
Report on the audit of the consolidated and separate financial statements 
 
Our opinion 

In our opinion: 
●  the accompanying consolidated financial statements give a true and fair view of the 

consolidated financial position of ČD Cargo, a.s., with its registered office at Jankovcova 
1569/2c, Praha 7 - Holešovice (”the Company“) and its subsidiaries (together “the 
Group”) as at 31 December 2019, of their consolidated financial performance and their 
consolidated cash flows for the year ended 31 December 2019 in accordance with In-
ternational Financial Reporting Standards as adopted by the European Union (“EU“). 

●  the accompanying separate financial statements give a true and fair view of the finan-
cial position of the Company standing alone as at 31 December 2019, of its financial 
performance and its cash flows for the year ended 31 December 2019 in accordance 
with International Financial Reporting Standards as adopted by the EU. 

 
What we have audited 
The Group’s consolidated financial statements comprise: 
●  the consolidated statement of financial position (balance sheet) as of 31 December 2019; 
●  the consolidated statement of profit or loss for the year ended 31 December 2019; 
●  the consolidated statement of comprehensive income for the year ended 31 December 

2019; 
●  the consolidated statement of changes in equity for the year ended 31 December 2019; 
●  the consolidated  cash flow  statement for the year ended 31 December 2019; and 
●  the notes to the consolidated financial statements, which include significant account-

ing policies and other explanatory information. 
The Company’s separate financial statements comprise: 
●  the statement of financial position (balance sheet) as of 31 December 2019; 
●  the statement of profit or loss for the year ended 31 December 2019; 
●  the statement of comprehensive income for the year ended 31 December 2019; 
●  the statement of changes in equity for the year ended 31 December 2019; 
●  the cash flow statement for the year ended 31 December 2019; and 
●  the notes to the separate financial statements, which include significant accounting 

policies and other explanatory information. 
 
Basis for opinion 
We conducted our audit in accordance with the Act on Auditors, Regulation (EU) No. 
537/2014 of the European Parliament and of the Council (“the EU Regulation”) and Stan-
dards on Auditing of the Chamber of Auditors of the Czech Republic (together “Audit reg-
ulations”). These standards consist of International Standards on Auditing (ISAs) as 
supplemented and modified by related application guidance. Our responsibilities under 
those standards are further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the 
Financial Statements section of our report. We believe that the audit evidence we have 
obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. 

Independence 
We are independent of the Group and the Company in accordance with the Act on Audi-
tors, EU Regulation and Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants issued by the Inter-
national Ethics Standards Board for Accountants (IESBA) and accepted by the Chamber 
of Auditors of the Czech Republic (together “Ethic regulations”), and we fulfilled our other 
ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Ethic regulations.  
 
Our Audit Approach 
Overview 

The materiality level was determined by combining of total rev-
enue and profit before tax at 1% of total revenue in 2019 and 
5% of average profit before tax for 2017–2019, with the ratio of 
the level materiality set as follows: total revenue (80%) and av-
erage profit before tax for 2017 - 2019 (20%), which represents: 
for the Group - CZK 117 million 
for the Company - CZK 110 million. 
 
We have identified four entities, that were subsequently se-
lected for audit based on their size or related risk. For one addi-
tional entity, we have performed specified audit procedures 
over material balances and transactions. As part of the audit 
procedures described above, we have cooperated with compo-
nent auditors in Slovakia, Poland and Germany. All component 
auditors were members of the PwC network. Entities, for which 
we performed the above described procedures, represent 99% 
of the Group’s profit before tax and 99% of the Group’s revenue. 
 
Correct reporting of lease contracts in the first application of 
IFRS 16, Leases (Group and Company). 

 
As part of designing our audit, we determined the materiality and assessed the risks of 
material misstatement in the consolidated and separate financial statements (together 
the “financial statements”). In particular, we considered where management made sub-
jective judgements; for example, in respect of significant accounting estimates that in-
volved making assumptions and considering future events that are inherently uncertain. 
 
We also addressed the risk of management override of internal controls, including among 
other matters, consideration of whether there was evidence of bias that represented 
a risk of material misstatement due to fraud. 

13
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Materiality 
The scope of our audit was influenced by our application of materiality. An audit is de-
signed to obtain reasonable assurance as to whether the financial statements are free 
from material misstatement. Misstatements may arise due to fraud or error. They are con-
sidered material if, individually or in aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to in-
fluence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of the financial statements.

Based on our professional judgement, we determined certain quantitative thresholds for 
materiality, including the overall materiality for each set of financial statements as a 
whole as set out in the table below. These, together with qualitative considerations, 
helped us to determine the scope of our audit and the nature, timing and extent of our 
audit procedures and to evaluate the effect of misstatements, both individually and in 
aggregate, on each set of financial statements. 

Key audit matters 
Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgment, were of most sig-
nificance in our audit of the financial statements of the current period. These matters were 

addressed in the context of our audit of each set of financial statements as a whole and in 
forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on these matters.

Correct reporting of lease contracts in the first application of IFRS 16, Leases (Group and 
Company). 
 
In 2019, the Company and the Group implemented IFRS 16 - Leases. For the purpose of 
its first application, the Company and the Group chose a modified retrospective method 
that does not require the adjustment of comparable data. As of 31 December 2019, the 
right of use amounted to CZK 2,553 million for the Group and CZK 2,350 million for the 
Company. The adoption of the new standard has a significant impact on the financial 
statements. The related accounting policies are disclosed in Notes 2.4 and 3 where the 
impact of the implementation of IFRS 16 on the separate and consolidated financial 
statements is presented. 
 
For further information on the implementation of IFRS 16, see Notes 10.1 and 19.3 of the 
consolidated financial statements and Notes 10.3 and 19.3 of the separate financial 
statements. 
 
 
 
 

In connection with the application of IFRS 16, we performed the following procedures: 
 
●  We reviewed the appropriateness of the opening balances as of 1 January 2019 to en-

sure that the proposed accounting treatment was in accordance with the requirements 
of IFRS 16.     

●  We reviewed the initial recognition of right-of-use assets and lease liabilities and man-
agement’s calculations to determine the impact when adopting the standard.   

●  We considered the completeness of the lease contracts included in the assets repre-
senting rights of use. 

●  We tested the accuracy of the input data on a sample basis, including discount rates 
and the assessment of the extension option of the contracts used to calculate the value 
of the lease liabilities. Our procedures also included consideration of the exemptions 
and practical expedients applied under IFRS 16. 

●  We tested, on a sample basis, the mathematical accuracy of the calculation of leased 
liabilities we obtained. 

 
We reviewed the disclosures in the financial statements relating to leases to determine 
whether they comply with the disclosure requirements under IFRS 16. The assessment 
relates to Note 2.4 regarding accounting policies, Note 3 regarding the impact of appli-
cation of IFRS 16 and Note 19.3 presenting the Company and the Group as a lessee. 
 

Overall Group materiality                                                                                        CZK 117 million  
                                                                                                                                             (CZK 113 million for the previous period) 
 
Overall materiality for the Company standing alone                                  CZK 110 million 
                                                                                                                                                              (CZK 108 million for the previous period) 
 
How we determined it                                                                                                          The level of materiality for both the Group and the Company was determined on the basis of combining total revenue 

and average profit before tax. 
 
Rationale for the materiality benchmark applied                                         We considered profit before tax as the primary method of determining materiality, but due to its year-on-year fluc-

tuation, we decided to combine this indicator with total revenue as a more stable year-on-year indicator. 
 
                                                                                                                                                              Based on the above indicators, the materiality level was determined by combining total revenue and profit before 

tax, at 1% of total revenue in 2019 and 5% of average profit before tax for 2017–2019. To reflect the weight of these 
indicators, the materiality ratio was set as follows: total revenue for 2019 (80%) and average profit before tax for 
2017–2019 (20%). 

Key audit matter                                                                                                                                         How our audit addressed the key audit matter
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How we tailored our audit scope  
We tailored the scope of our audit in order to perform sufficient work to enable us to pro-
vide an opinion on each set of financial statements as a whole, taking into account the 
structure of the Group and the Company, the accounting processes and controls, the 
share of individual subsidiaries on the Group financial position and performance and 
specifics of the industry in which the Group operates. 
 
The Group operates mainly in the railway transportation of goods and related services in 
the Czech Republic and Central Europe. The consolidated financial statements include 
nine entities of which the Company itself is clearly the largest entity. In the context of de-
termining the scope of the audit, we set the scope of work that was deemed necessary 
for each entity. We determined that auditing four entities and specific audit procedures 
on one entity would be a suitable scope of work. The criteria for determining the extent 
of the work on individual entities were mainly their size, complexity and risk in terms of 
audit procedures. Audit work on entities based in the Czech Republic was performed by 
the group audit team; work on entities located abroad was performed by component au-
ditors from the PwC network and it was based on instructions provided by the group audit 
team. In cooperation with component auditors, we determined the level of mutual com-
munication at a level, which forms a sufficient basis for our opinion. This included regular 
exchanges of information obtained during the audit and discussion of key audit and ac-
counting practices. The described range of audit work covers 99% of the Group’s revenue 
and 99% of the Group’s profit before tax. For the remaining entities, we performed ana-
lytical procedures focussed on significant year-to-year changes. We consider the described 
scope of the audit to be sufficient for rendering our audit opinion. 
 
Other information 
In compliance with Section 2(b) of the Act on Auditors, the other information comprises 
the Annual Report, but it doesn´t include both of the financial statements and our audi-
tor’s report thereon. The other information consists of other financial information and 
other non-financial information. The Board of Directors of the Company is responsible for 
the other information. 
 
Our opinion on the financial statements does not cover the other information. In connec-
tion with our audit of the financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other fi-
nancial and non-financial information and, in doing so, consider whether the other 
information is materially inconsistent with the financial statements or our knowledge 
about the Group and the Company obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be ma-
terially misstated. In addition, we assessed whether the other information has been pre-
pared, in all material respects, in accordance with applicable law and regulation, in 
particular, whether the other information complies with law and regulation in terms of 
formal requirements and procedure for preparing the other information in the context of 
materiality, i.e. whether any non-compliance with these requirements could influence 
judgments made on the basis of the other information. 
 
Based on the procedures performed, to the extent we are able to assess it, in our opinion: 
 
●  the other information describing the facts that are also presented in the financial state-

ments is, in all material respects, consistent with the financial statements; and 
●  the other information is prepared in compliance with the Act on Accounting. 
 
In addition, our responsibility is to report, based on the knowledge and understanding of 
the Group and the Company obtained in the audit, on whether the other information con-
tains any material misstatement of fact. Based on the procedures we have performed on 
the other information obtained, we have not identified any material misstatement of fact. 

Responsibilities of the Board of Directors, Supervisory Board and Audit Committee 
of the Company for the Financial Statements 
The Board of Directors of the Company is responsible for the preparation and fair presen-
tation of the financial statements in accordance with International Financial Reporting 
Standards as adopted by the EU and for such internal control as the Board of Directors 
determines is necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements that are free 
from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. 
 
In preparing the financial statements, the Board of Directors is responsible for assessing 
the Group and the Company’s ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as appli-
cable, matters related to going concern and using the going concern basis of accounting 
unless the Board of Directors either intends to liquidate the Group or the Company or to 
cease operations, or has no realistic alternative but to do so. 
 
The Supervisory Board of the Company is responsible for overseeing the financial report-
ing process. 
 
The Audit Committee of the Company is responsible for monitoring of the financial state-
ment preparation process. 
 
Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements 
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial state-
ments as a whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and 
to issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level 
of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with the Audit 
regulations will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements 
can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggre-
gate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users 
taken based on these financial statements. 
 
As part of an audit in accordance with the above-stated requirements, we exercise pro-
fessional judgment and maintain professional scepticism throughout the audit. We also: 
 
●  identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, 

whether due to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those 
risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for 
our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is 
higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, inten-
tional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal controls. 

●  obtain an understanding of internal controls relevant to the audit in order to design 
audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of 
expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Group and the Company’s internal 
controls. 

●  evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of 
accounting estimates and related disclosures made by the Board of Directors. 

●  conclude on the appropriateness of the Board of Directors' use of the going concern 
basis of accounting and, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material un-
certainty exists related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the 
Group and the Company’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a 
material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s report 
to the related disclosures in the financial statements or, if such disclosures are inade-
quate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained 
up to the date of our auditor’s report. However, future events or conditions may cause 
the Group or the Company to cease to continue as a going concern. 
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●  evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial statements, 
including the notes, and whether the financial statements represent the underlying 
transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair presentation. 

●  obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial information of the 
entities or business activities within the Group to express an opinion on the consoli-
dated financial statements. We are responsible for the direction, supervision and per-
formance of the Group audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit opinion. 

 
We communicate with the Board of Directors, Supervisory Board and Audit Committee 
regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and signifi-
cant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we iden-
tify during our audit. 
 
We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement showing that we have complied 
with relevant ethical requirements regarding independence, and to communicate with 
them all relationships and other matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our 
independence, and where applicable, related safeguards. 
 
From the matters communicated with the Supervisory Board and Audit Committee, we 
determine those matters that were of most significance in the audit of the financial state-
ments of the current period and are therefore the key audit matters. We describe these 
matters in our auditor’s report unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure about 
the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter should 
not be communicated in our report because the adverse consequences of doing so would 
reasonably be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such communication. 
 

Report on other legal and regulatory requirements 
In compliance with Article 10(2) of the EU Regulation, we provide the following informa-
tion, which is required in addition to the requirements of International Standards on Au-
diting: 
 
Consistency of the audit opinion with the additional report to the audit committee 
 
We confirm that the audit opinion expressed herein is consistent with the additional re-
port to the Audit Committee of the Company, which we issued in accordance with Article 
11 of the EU Regulation. 
 
Appointment of auditor and period of engagement 
 
We were appointed as the auditors of the Group and the Company for year 2019 by the 
General Meeting of Shareholders of the Company on 25 June 2019. Our uninterrupted en-
gagement as auditors of the Group and the Company has lasted for 4 years. 
 
Provided non-audit Services 
 
The non-audit services are disclosed in Note 24 of the notes to the consolidated financial 
statements. 
 
PwC Network did not provide prohibited services referred to in the Article 5 of the EU Reg-
ulation. 
 
14 April 2020 
 
 
 
 
 
represented by

Ing. Milan Zelený 
Statutory Auditor, Licence No. 2319

Václav Prýmek






